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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  I call the meeting

          3  to order.  We're still waiting for some of the

          4  Members to come upstairs, but we're going to start

          5  the meeting.

          6                 Good afternoon and welcome.  My name

          7  is Maria Baez.  I am Chair of the Aging Committee.

          8                 Today, the Committee on Aging will

          9  conduct an oversight hearing devoted to an

         10  exploration of the issues facing grandparents who

         11  are raising their grandchildren.

         12                 During the past 20 years, New York

         13  City has seen a dramatic increase in the number of

         14  grandparents who are living with and caring for

         15  their grandchildren.  There are a number of reasons

         16  why grandparents have had to assume this

         17  responsibility. Yet, no matter where they have

         18  decided to care for their grandchildren, it is clear

         19  that they are providing their families, their

         20  community and our City with a labor of love that can

         21  literally save the lives of our children.

         22                 Unfortunately, there are a number of

         23  legal, social and economic barriers that impede the

         24  ability of grandparents to care for their

         25  grandchildren.  For example, grandparents may have
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          2  difficulty gaining formal custody of their

          3  grandchildren. Additionally, some grandparents have

          4  lost their grandchildren to biological parents who

          5  barely knew their child.  Other grandparents are

          6  suffering physically, emotional and financially from

          7  the added burden of raising a child without

          8  sufficient medical and financial resources.

          9                 At today's hearing, the Committee

         10  will be seeking additional information regarding the

         11  barriers that the governmental and legal system

         12  often place in the way of grandparents who are

         13  raising their grandchildren.  We will hear testimony

         14  regarding the actions that the City, through the

         15  Department for the Aging's Grandparent Resource

         16  Center, is taking to connect grandparents to

         17  services that can ease the burdens and provide them

         18  with medical and monetary assistance.  The Committee

         19  will also be voting on Reso. 165.  A Resolution

         20  introduced by Council Member Perkins, which I am a

         21  co- sponsor of, that calls on this Committee of the

         22  Council to explore the issue we will be discussing

         23  today.

         24                 At first, I would like to introduce

         25  the Members of the Committee, Council Member Nelson,

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  Council Member Stewart.  We are also joined by the

          3  sponsor of Reso. 165, Council Member Perkins, who

          4  will also be saying a few words, and as I stated

          5  before, we have a few Members that are downstairs

          6  that are on their way up.  At this time, Council

          7  Member Perkins will be speaking on Reso. 165

          8  briefly.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

         10  very much Madam Chair for this hearing and the

         11  timeliness of this hearing, particularly as it comes

         12  as we are beginning to negotiate the budget.

         13  Ideally, from my point of view, today's testimony

         14  and the realities that we face and that grandparents

         15  face are something that should be taken up in this

         16  budgetary process.

         17                 According to the Census of the year

         18  2000, over 2.4 million grandparents, nationwide,

         19  carry the primary responsibility for meeting the

         20  basic needs of their grandchildren.  Here, in New

         21  York City, nearly 84,000 grandparents are primary

         22  caregivers or kinship caregivers for their

         23  grandchildren.

         24                 Over the past 25 years, the number of

         25  children being raised by grandparents has increased
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          2  considerably.  In fact, according to Generations

          3  United, between the years 1990 and 1998 alone, the

          4  number of grandparent- headed households, households

          5  without the presence of either parent, increased by

          6  over 50 percent.

          7                 There are many reasons why

          8  grandparent kinship care is required.  The

          9  Chairwoman outlined some of them, which include the

         10  fact that their primary parents need to work, the

         11  desire of the parents to extend their education,

         12  parental illness or death, divorce, incarceration,

         13  parental abuse or neglect, or other reasons.

         14                 Grandparents who accept the burdens

         15  of raising children face many challenges, legal

         16  custody issues, insufficient financial resources,

         17  inadequacy of housing space, inadequacy of medical

         18  insurance, the normal behavioral problems of

         19  children, sometimes abnormal behavioral problems,

         20  cultural differences, language differences, the lack

         21  of education, the need for respite care and

         22  emotional support.

         23                 Despite these challenges, children

         24  raised by grandparents benefit from daily familial

         25  contact.  Indeed, grandparents are often the last
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          2  line of defense in keeping children out of non-

          3  kinship foster care.  Therefore, the Council of the

          4  City of New York, in acknowledging this crucial role

          5  that grandparents in New York City are playing in

          6  raising their grandchildren, I have asked this

          7  Committee to hold a hearing to further explore this

          8  issue, which is so important to many of our fellow

          9  citizens.

         10                 I want to thank one of the primary

         11  movers in my neighborhood when it comes to

         12  grandparents, and that's an organization called GEM,

         13  Grandparents Empowerment Movement, and that's

         14  essentially what we're trying to do.  We're trying

         15  to empower grandparents, recognize them for

         16  wonderful things that they're doing, and by the same

         17  token, empower them.  One way you can empower them

         18  is with money, with resources, so that they can

         19  adequately provide the kind of care that their love

         20  represents.

         21                 I also want to recognize, in addition

         22  to GEM, the, Rolanda Pyle, Director for the New York

         23  City Department of the Aging, who, as some of you

         24  may have noticed, was featured this Sunday, April

         25  25th, in the The Daily News, as one of the hundred
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          2  who shape our City.  Would you please stand.  Let

          3  her have a round of applause.  She one of the

          4  hundred who shape our City and in that regard, her,

          5  the feather in her cap is what she has been doing

          6  with grandparents.  In fact, but for her and GEM, I

          7  would probably not have had this inspiration to have

          8  this hearing and to also see how we can bring some

          9  budgetary support to that movement.  I think it's an

         10  important movement.  It's a City- wide movement that

         11  is growing, not only City- wide, but also

         12  nationally.  So, thank you very much Madam Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you.  We

         14  will be voting. We're waiting for someone to come

         15  up.  We will be voting on Reso. 165.  I would also

         16  like to acknowledge Council Member Recchia has also

         17  joined us, and to my left is Legal Counsel Terrance

         18  Strout (phonetic) and our Policy Analyst, Perry

         19  Stein, and behind me, our Public Advocate, Betsy

         20  Gotbaum, who will also be testifying. Okay, are you

         21  ready to?

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Baez.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Aye.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Nelson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Aye and, I'm
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          2  sorry, I want to request that I be put down as a

          3  sponsor of Reso. 165.  Thank you.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Excuse me.

          5  Recchia.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Before I

          7  cast my vote, I would like to be added as a co-

          8  sponsor to this bill please, and in addition I vote

          9  yes.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Stewart.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you.

         12  May I request that my name be added to that

         13  sponsorship and I vote aye, thank you.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  By a vote of

         15  four in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         16  abstentions, the item is adopted.  Council Members

         17  would you please sign the Committee Report.  Thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you.  We

         20  will now be hearing from our Public Advocate, Betsy

         21  Gotbaum.

         22                 MS. GOTBAUM:  Hi Maria, I'm up here.

         23  It's a little strange to be making a statement from

         24  up here, but forgive your backs down there.  Thank

         25  you Councilwoman Baez for calling this hearing and
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          2  thank the other Members of the Committee for --

          3  excuse me -- for sponsoring this legislation.  Thank

          4  you also to all the grandparents, advocates and

          5  representatives of the Administration who are here

          6  today.

          7                 As Council Member Perkins said, and I

          8  think it should be underlined, there are

          9  approximately 84,000, 84,000 grandparents in New

         10  York City who are responsible for their

         11  grandchildren.  Many of these men and women are

         12  raising their grandchildren on fixed incomes and

         13  limited resources while facing housing difficulties

         14  and many health problems.  Many of the children they

         15  take care of have been neglected or abused or their

         16  parents are sick, in prison, in substance abuse

         17  programs or dead.

         18                 These self- sacrificing men and women

         19  deserve our admiration and our gratitude.  But, more

         20  than that, they deserve the support of City

         21  agencies.  Currently, there are a number of

         22  obstacles to positive, productive relationships

         23  between grandparents and the agencies that deal with

         24  them.  The critical first step in removing these

         25  obstacles is for the involved parties to discuss
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          2  them openly.  I commend everyone for participating

          3  today, for contributing to a better understanding of

          4  the challenges faced by grandparents raising

          5  grandchildren and attempting to seek support for

          6  City agencies.

          7                 To help set the stage for the

          8  testimony you will hear today, I would like to

          9  mention one of the most critical issues that

         10  grandparents and their advocates have raised in

         11  discussions with my office.  Many grandparents say

         12  that the option of becoming a foster parent was not

         13  brought to their attention when they discussed their

         14  grandchildren's cases with ACS.  Kinship foster care

         15  can help protect vulnerable children and alleviate

         16  the burden on grandparents.

         17                 Foster parents receive money to pay

         18  for the child's food, clothing, housing, school, and

         19  other needs.  It is of utmost importance that ACS

         20  inform grandparents of all their options when they

         21  seek to assume responsibility for the grandchildren.

         22    To this end, in October 2003, the State passed the

         23  Grandparent Caregiver Support Act, which requires

         24  ACS to seek out relatives of children in its care

         25  and make a thorough presentation of the options.
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          2  The passage of this important law is an encouraging

          3  step in the right direction.  But, in the weeks and

          4  months ahead, we must monitor its implementation to

          5  ensure that the spirit, and not just the letter, of

          6  the law is followed.

          7                 Child protective specialists should

          8  be trained to make a clear and thorough presentation

          9  of grandparents' options, included, including but

         10  not limited to foster care.  For those grandparents

         11  who are not eligible or choose not to become foster

         12  parents, other resources, such as TANF Child Only

         13  Grant, food stamps, and Medicaid provide monetary

         14  support to help with the task of raising the

         15  children.  These options should also be a part of a

         16  caseworker's standard communication with

         17  grandparents.

         18                 Advocates have informed my office

         19  that grandparents have had difficulty assessing TANF

         20  benefits.  They say that HRA has not done an

         21  effective job of providing these benefits to

         22  seniors.  I plan to look into this issue further and

         23  encourage anyone here with relevant information to

         24  contact us and help us keep this pressure up.

         25                 In addition to the City communicating
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          2  more effectively with grandparents, New York State

          3  should seek to create a subsidized guardianship

          4  program.  Subsidized guardianship would offer

          5  grandparents a middle ground between foster care and

          6  adoption, an option that is more permanent than

          7  foster care, but with financial supports that are

          8  similar to adoption.

          9                 It is disappointing that the State

         10  missed the deadline for a waiver to create a

         11  subsidized guardianship program.  But, this should

         12  not deter for future efforts.  My office has been in

         13  regular contact with advocates and grandparents, and

         14  in the days ahead, we will be meeting with ACS to

         15  discuss the implementation of the Grandparent

         16  Caregiver Support Act and other issues relevant to

         17  grandparents dealing with the child welfare system.

         18                 As a grandparent myself, I understand

         19  how important these issues are.  Grandparents should

         20  feel free to reach out to me with their concerns,

         21  and I repeat that, you should feel free to reach out

         22  to me with your concerns.  I will take them

         23  seriously and act on them appropriately.  This

         24  hearing is a critical first step in overcoming the

         25  challenges that grandparent caregivers face.  But,
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          2  it is just that, a first step. I encourage all the

          3  agencies that work with grandparents, grandparent

          4  caregivers, to coordinate their efforts to make sure

          5  these admirable men and women receive the support

          6  they need. Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you.

          8                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  We will

          9  now hear testimony from DFTA Assistant Commissioner,

         10  Karen Shaffer.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  Good

         12  afternoon City Council Members and staff.  My name

         13  is Karen Shaffer.  I'm Assistant Commissioner for

         14  the New York City Department for the Aging and I'm

         15  joined here with Rolanda Pyle, which you've all

         16  heard about, our Director of our Grandparent

         17  Resource Center, and her Deputy Director, Cheryl

         18  Jackson.  I'm pleased to be here today to discuss

         19  the challenges faced by grandparents raising

         20  grandchildren and what the Department for the Aging

         21  has done to meet those challenges.

         22                 As you know, the Department provides

         23  a wide range of services directly and through a

         24  City- wide network of voluntary organizations to

         25  enhance the well- being of older people, to keep
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          2  them in their communities, and to help maintain

          3  their independence.  Our services include congregate

          4  and home delivered meals, home care, transportation

          5  for frail elderly, information and referral, health

          6  promotion, volunteer and employment programs, as

          7  well as crime prevention and victim assistance.

          8                 In the early 1990's, the Department

          9  became aware of the number of older New Yorkers who

         10  now have the responsibility of caring for younger

         11  children. The Department of Health also noticed an

         12  increase in the older New Yorkers who brought

         13  children for services to the child health clinics in

         14  East Harlem.  They brought it to our attention, and

         15  in 1995, the Department held its first Mayoral

         16  Conference called Unplanned Parenthood, Grandparents

         17  Raising Grandchildren.  The conference was well

         18  attended by both grandparents and service providers.

         19  One clear message that resulted from this

         20  conference, was the need for services and our

         21  Grandparent Resource Center became a reality the

         22  following year.

         23                 As you heard before, the number of

         24  children in grandparent held households has

         25  increased 30 percent since 1990. According to the
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          2  U.S. Census, this is about 84,000 grandparents.

          3  Grandparents are raising their grandchildren because

          4  the parents are unable or unavailable due to

          5  substance abuse, incarceration, teenage pregnancy,

          6  death, mental illness, immaturity, divorce, child

          7  abuse, neglect and illness, including HIV AIDS.

          8                 Grandparent caregivers face a myriad

          9  of challenges in nearly all aspects of their lives

         10  when they assume the role of a parent.  These

         11  challenges include legal custody, financial

         12  resources, adequate medical care, housing,

         13  children's behavior problems, family issues, child

         14  care, children's education, respite care and

         15  emotional support.

         16                 Grandparents contact the Department's

         17  Resource Center with a host of complex crisis

         18  situations that usually need immediate attention.

         19  Most need advocacy and our resource specialist

         20  spends a great deal of time intervening with

         21  governmental agencies and systems, such as the Human

         22  Resource Administration, Administration for

         23  Children's Services, Family Court, Social Security

         24  and food stamps.

         25                 The major reasons that grandparents
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          2  contact the Grandparent Resource Center include

          3  information on entitlements due to the financial

          4  hardship that often comes with raising

          5  grandchildren.  Many of the grandparents are on a

          6  fixed income and not prepared to take on the

          7  financial responsibility of grandchildren.  We refer

          8  grandparents to apply for TANF Child Only Grants,

          9  Medicaid and Child Health Plus for their

         10  grandchildren.  We also encourage them to apply for

         11  food stamps, Social Security benefits, where

         12  applicable.  Often, we have to walk the grandparents

         13  through the process and negotiate the systems to

         14  ensure they receive the needed services.

         15                 To find out about legal authority,

         16  they're concerned about custody and guardianship and

         17  want to find out more about these options.  Free

         18  legal services are limited, but in the past, we

         19  often refer grandparents for legal consultation with

         20  the Brookdale Center for the Aging's Grandparent

         21  Caregiver Law Center, and now, to our newest DFTA

         22  contracted program, The Family Center.  The

         23  grandparents feel alone and isolated and need to

         24  talk to someone who understands.  In these cases, we

         25  refer grandparents to local neighborhood based
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          2  support groups.

          3                 In addition to providing information

          4  and referral and concrete services to grandparents,

          5  the Center offers technical assistance to

          6  individuals and organizations who wish to provide

          7  services to grandparent caregivers.  Technical

          8  assistance is offered through a training on how to

          9  start a grandparent support group and through

         10  individualized assistance.  The Grandparent Resource

         11  Center sponsors a network for grandparent support

         12  group facilitators, to exchange ideas, share

         13  information, collaborate on events and receive

         14  specialized training.  Through a previous United Way

         15  grant, the Center coordinated coalition building,

         16  expanding on the Brooklyn Grandparents Coalition

         17  model, we have developed coalitions of grandparent

         18  groups in the Bronx, Manhattan and Queens.

         19                 In March  '96, the Grandparent

         20  Resource Center developed a workshop curriculum

         21  guide titled For Grandparents Raising Grandchildren:

         22  A Series of Workshops to Help you Cope. The guide

         23  was primarily for grandparent caregiver support

         24  groups in response to the New York State Office for

         25  the Aging request for proposals.  This targeted
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          2  caregiver initiative, which was designed to be a

          3  state prototype, was formulated with the assistance

          4  and input from a very involved Grandparent Advisory

          5  Board.  A consultant was hired to develop the

          6  curriculum and test curriculum topics on focus

          7  groups.  The first curriculum was so successful that

          8  we received requests from both grandparent

          9  caregivers and service providers for additional

         10  workshop topics. The Grandparent Resource Center

         11  developed an additional guide, which expanded the

         12  topics pertinent to the grandparents.

         13                 We also offer the following to

         14  grandparents who contact us and those who are part

         15  of our grandparent support group network:  A holiday

         16  toy drive; tickets to recreational/socialization

         17  events; emergency cash and goods to be used in a

         18  crisis, for example, beds, clothing; a bi- annual

         19  grandparent recognition ceremony; educational

         20  conferences; informational forums in their

         21  communities, offering information on entitlements,

         22  legal authority, kinship foster care and community-

         23  based services; summer camp scholarships; college

         24  preparation kits.

         25                 I want to thank all of you for this
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          2  opportunity to present a brief overview of the

          3  Department for the Aging's Grandparent Resource

          4  Center.  I hope that it has helped you understand

          5  the vital role the Center plays in the welfare of

          6  the City's grandparents raising grandkids.  Thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you.  Before

          9  we proceed, I would like to acknowledge that we've

         10  been joined by Council Member Dilan and Council

         11  Member Gallagher was here, he stepped out to another

         12  Committee Meeting.  We're going to continue on the

         13  vote.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Resolution

         15  165, Council Member Dilan.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Aye.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Vote now

         18  stands at five in the affirmative, zero in the

         19  negative and no abstentions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  We're going to

         21  leave the vote open.  I just have a few questions.

         22  Approximately how many grandparents call the

         23  Grandparents Resource Center on a monthly basis,

         24  more or less?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  Go
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          2  ahead.

          3                 MS. PYLE:  On a monthly basis,

          4  probably about --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  -- Press --

          6                 MS. PYLE: -- On a monthly basis, we

          7  probably get between 50 to 75 calls.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Right, and how

          9  many people on staff?

         10                 MS. PYLE:  We have three full- time

         11  staff and some part- time staff.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Three full- time

         13  and three part time?

         14                 MS. PYLE:  We have three part- time

         15  staff, but we also have two positions that we're

         16  looking to fill now --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  -- Three part --

         18                 MS. PYLE:  -- Two full- time

         19  positions --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  -- Two full- time

         21  positions?

         22                 MS. PYLE:  Uh- huh.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Okay.  Is that

         24  sufficient?

         25                 MS. PYLE:  Well --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  -- I'm mean,

          3  talking about what? Five individuals?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  It's

          5  five individuals, but thanks to the caregiver

          6  support monies, we were able to, the three funds, we

          7  were able to also subcontract with The Family

          8  Center.  The Family Center is a City- wide program

          9  for grandparents.  So, we have an additional arm out

         10  there in the community, as well as our 31 support

         11  groups.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Sorry, do any of

         13  the Members have questions?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Yes, thank

         15  you Madam Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Council Member

         17  Nelson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Do you have

         19  any statistics as far as the amount of grandparents

         20  that have actually legal custody over the

         21  grandchildren?  Out of the 84, approximately, 84,000

         22  grandparents that have the children in their homes,

         23  but how many legally have that custody?  If there

         24  are any stats on that.

         25                 MS. PYLE:  We don't have that
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          2  information, we don't have the information with us.

          3  I could, you know, try to found out for you and get

          4  back to you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  That would be

          6  a curiosity, sure, you know, tell only ten percent

          7  have it, and based upon the problems that they've

          8  come up against or you know, maybe 80 percent have

          9  it.  Of course, we know that's not going to be the

         10  story, but whatever it happens to be.

         11                 I'm going to jump down to something I

         12  thought was pretty good here too.  Do we have a

         13  sufficient number of services that are aiding the

         14  people, these particular grandparents who have or

         15  are taking care of their grandchildren?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  I'm

         17  happy to say, with the caregiver funds, I mean, it's

         18  not just The Family Center that is actually dealing

         19  with the grandparents.  But, we also have, right

         20  now, 15 other providers dealing with the general

         21  caregiver population.  Of course, within that,

         22  includes grandparents.  They're not going to turn

         23  grandparents away.  So, we're now serving in every

         24  single borough and every single district caregivers.

         25    So, I would say, though it is a growing need, we
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          2  certainly have sufficient services.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  How difficult

          4  is it for a grandparent to register their grandchild

          5  in a public school?

          6                 MS. PYLE:  I think it varies case by

          7  case.  We've had grandparents who have had extreme

          8  difficulty registering a child and other

          9  grandparents don't.  I think it depends on the

         10  district and the school.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  So, there's

         12  nothing really codified along this, in this arena.

         13  I realize you're running into some problems.

         14  Perhaps, maybe the parents don't want their parent

         15  to register their child in a certain school.  So,

         16  there's always then the legalities that can be, you

         17  know, get involved with this.  But, something like

         18  this, I think, again, this hopefully, if the law

         19  comes to be, it should help ease the tensions the

         20  grandparents raising their grandchildren.  As far as

         21  medical care goes, right along with school care, how

         22  easy is it for a grandparent to, say, get medical

         23  attention for their grandchild?

         24                 MS. PYLE:  I think, usually,

         25  grandparents don't have any problems if there's an
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          2  emergency --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  -- Sure --

          4                 MS. PYLE:  -- For instance, if a

          5  child gets hit by a car or something, they go to the

          6  emergency room.  Sometimes --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  -- It's the

          8  routine stuff --

          9                 MS. PYLE: -- They may have problems

         10  getting medical care on just general care --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  -- Right --

         12                 MS. PYLE:  -- If they don't have

         13  custody of the child.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Inoculations

         15  or what have you.  Okay, obviously there's a lot of

         16  work to be done on this. Thank you.  Thank you Madam

         17  Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Council Member

         19  Perkins.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

         21  very much. Just a quick question or two.  First,

         22  thank you for your testimony and, obviously, you

         23  all, the agency has recognized the role, and to some

         24  extent, the needs of grandparents.  I'm wondering,

         25  in terms of your budget, how much of your budget is
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          2  more or less focused on grandparenting?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

          4  Specifically, $600,000 is allocated for the

          5  Grandparent Resource Center and our subcontractor.

          6  But, if you include the other caregiver providers

          7  out there, it's over $3 million a year.  So, it's

          8  not just specifically to grandparents, but it's to

          9  caregivers.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  So, let me

         11  be quick.  So, the $3 million is part of your

         12  budget?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  It's

         14  part of the 3E funding that we get that we

         15  appropriate for caregiver programs.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  It's part,

         17  I'm sorry, it's part of the what funding?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  3E.

         19  It's the caregiver, National Family Caregiver

         20  Support program.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  It's the --

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  --

         23  That we get --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  -- From the

         25  Federal Government?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

          3  Correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  How much of

          5  the City's money is targeted for grandparenting?

          6  How much of your budget --

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  -- I

          8  don't have that right here.  I don't have the amount

          9  right here.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Is it a

         11  number that can be acquired?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  I'd like to

         14  have that. If the Chair would be so kind.  And, you

         15  mentioned that this $600,000 for the Center, right?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  For

         17  the Center as well as the subcontractor.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Explain to

         19  me a little bit about the subcontractor.  Who is

         20  this subcontractor and what does this subcontractor

         21  do?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  The

         23  subcontractor is The Family Center and they're a

         24  City- wide program, helping grandparents raising

         25  grandkids.  They've been around a long time. They
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          2  exist over 12 years, basically through private

          3  funds, foundation money.  Now that we've have the

          4  three funds become available, we did place an RFP

          5  specifically looking for a subcontractor that would

          6  provide these services for grandparents --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  -- And they

          8  provide it for the City?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  They

         10  will provide City- wide.  They submitted in April --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: -- And how

         12  much is the contract?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  I

         14  believe it's $350,000.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  And is it a

         16  competitively bid or a sole source --

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  --

         18  Yes it was competitively bid.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Okay.  So,

         20  and they're located where?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  In

         22  Manhattan, Lower Manhattan.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Lower, and

         24  so, how do they function?  I mean, what are they,

         25  they're located in Lower Manhattan, what do they do?

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2    I'm just trying to get a sense of how they work.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  They

          4  provide legal services, their own support groups,

          5  also navigating the systems --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  -- So how

          7  does a group, for instance, out of the Bronx, or

          8  let's say Upper Manhattan, access whatever it is

          9  that they do?

         10                 MS. PYLE:  They would call us.  A

         11  group, the group or the grandparents should call us

         12  and then we refer to The Family Center.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  The group

         14  would be referred to the Center?  And what would the

         15  Center do, give me an idea of let's say GEM, my GEM,

         16  and give me an idea of how a group like GEM would

         17  access and take advantage of whatever it is the

         18  Center has to offer.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  They

         20  would actually, I believe The Family Center does go

         21  to the client.  The Family Center's sitting here in

         22  the audience, but, I believe they do go to the

         23  client as well.  As well, they could be recommended

         24  to a support group that exists in the Bronx.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Okay.
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          2                 MS. PYLE:  The Family Center would

          3  more or less, they would assist the client, the

          4  grandparents themselves, not the other groups.  They

          5  would more so assist individual clients.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  So, and

          7  their clients, and they serve clients City- wide?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  Yes,

          9  they do.                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:

         10  Seems awful, like an awful lot of, there are 84,000

         11  grandparents and growing.  That's a lot of work for

         12  a $350,000 budget in Lower Manhattan.  And,

         13  grandparents, you know, they're very -- I'm a

         14  grandparent, by the way, I'm bragging -- but, many

         15  grandparents, that's a lot of traveling for them to

         16  take advantage of a service that's not, you know

         17  what I mean? That's all the way down in Manhattan,

         18  or from coming out of Queens or Staten Island or the

         19  Bronx.  I'm just wondering if, you know  --

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  --

         21  We are through The Family Center and through our own

         22  Center, and now that we have these 14, 13 other

         23  providers for caregivers, we are going to do some

         24  cross- training to the caregiver providers, so that

         25  this way, they are aware of the grandparent issues
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          2  and they can be advocates as well.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Fine.  Thank

          4  you very much.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

          6  Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  How much

          8  would you like to get in the City budget to help do

          9  grandparenting?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  Lots

         11  and lots, enough to help 84,000.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  So, you'll

         13  make sure that we get a recommendation, so that we

         14  can take that into consideration.  I would think,

         15  since you have some folks on this side that are

         16  interested in helping, you might want to consider

         17  that as you talk with the Mayor and talk with your

         18  Commissioner about this important service, this

         19  important work that's being done.  You know, I can

         20  tell you, grandparents are very noble and generous,

         21  but, very often, overwhelmed, more so than anything

         22  else, because they, no one, no one grows up

         23  thinking, gee, when I become a grandparent, I'll be

         24  a parent again.  So, anyway.  Let's see what we can

         25  do.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

          3  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:   Thank you.  Just,

          5  regarding the 13 providers -- I'm also a

          6  grandmother, I know, I look 21, but no, I'm also a

          7  grandmother, but regarding the 13 providers, they're

          8  going to be based, what? In different counties, or

          9  it's just, I mean we're going to have some in

         10  different boroughs?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  It

         12  is 14 altogether.  One is specifically for

         13  grandparents raising grandkids and all are in every

         14  single community, covering every single CD in every

         15  borough.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  That's great, and

         17  my other question was regarding the TANF program.

         18  Do you mention it on your website?

         19                 MS. PYLE:  Do we mention --

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  --

         21  We mention the grant there --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  -- The TANF

         23  program.  Is there any information.  One of my

         24  concerns was how are we letting individuals know of

         25  the TANF program.  Do you currently have that on
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          2  your website?

          3                 MS. PYLE:  We don't currently have it

          4  our website, but we are developing a caregiver

          5  website in which that information will be there.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  And how long

          7  before this website is up and running.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

          9  We're hoping by June.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  By June.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

         12  We're working on it right now.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Okay, thank you.

         14  Any questions?  Any other questions?  Council Member

         15  Stewart.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you

         17  Madam Chair.  I have some simple questions I think

         18  that you can help me with.  We know that not all

         19  parents are documented, however, the grandparent

         20  might be documented.  What kind of difficulty do you

         21  find in terms of immigration problems that you have,

         22  as far as grandparents and their grandchildren are

         23  concerned?  What kind of difficulties as far as

         24  immigration is concerned that you have encountered?

         25                 MS. PYLE:  Well, I think what we do
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          2  find is that a lot of the grandparents whose

          3  grandchildren have immigration problems or who, if

          4  the grandparents have immigrations problems, they

          5  don't contact us, that we don't hear from them.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Right.  But,

          7  do you have any kind of resources that, to help

          8  these people, that you can, that we can, to let them

          9  know that they can get help?  Do you have any

         10  specific way of helping them?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  One

         12  of the new caregiver programs out in the community

         13  is specifically for new immigrants, and we're hoping

         14  through that we can capture some of these

         15  grandparents.  Again, this cross- training should be

         16  very helpful in identifying them, but they don't

         17  seem to come forward on their own.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Right.  Next

         19  question is, based on these immigrants, they might

         20  have language problems --

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  --

         22  Absolutely --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- What do

         24  you do?  What kind of help do you have for them?  As

         25  grandparents, they might be only able to speak
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          2  Spanish, and they're already having problems dealing

          3  with these kids in school because they can't speak

          4  English that well and they may have that problem.

          5  What resources do you have to help these folks?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  Of

          7  the 14 caregiver programs that I discussed before,

          8  not only our own staff, that do speak other

          9  languages, but there are 13 languages spoken through

         10  those community- based organizations.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right.

         12  My other question is to refer back to some of these

         13  folks who are grandparents like myself and you can

         14  see they're all not that old, so therefore, and some

         15  of these grandparents might be grandparents who do

         16  not reach the age to get SSI or have what we call a

         17  pension and all of those things.  So, there's, and

         18  they may not even have a job.  What kind of help do

         19  you specifically deal with those grandparents in

         20  terms of getting them the kind of resources that a

         21  foster parent may get?

         22                 MS. PYLE:  Well, if a grandparent

         23  calls us, despite their age, we'll try to get them

         24  whatever resources they need.  If they need services

         25  in helping, resources in helping to raise their
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          2  grandchildren, then we'll, you know, walk through

          3  the process with them and get them --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- So, would

          5  you -- you say they will get the same kind of

          6  resources that the foster parent will get?  Are you

          7  saying that now?

          8                 MS. PYLE:  Well, they won't get the

          9  same payment that a foster parent will get because

         10  foster parents get --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Why not?

         12   --

         13                 MS. PYLE:  -- Because foster parents

         14  get foster parent payments.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  What I'm

         16  trying to get at is that we seem to be -- we

         17  encouraging separation, we encouraging disunity and

         18  all of that by making it easy to pay foster parent

         19  certain amount of money, but we won't give it to a

         20  grandparent, who may not have any other resources,

         21  that's what I'm trying to get at.  What kind of help

         22  are we providing to at least come to that point

         23  where that grandparent can get the equivalent as a

         24  foster parent?

         25                 Rather than send that child into
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          2  foster care, and there's a parent or grandparent

          3  that can take care of that child if they, if only

          4  they had the same resource that foster parent have.

          5  What kind of help are we providing for those

          6  parents, those grandparents?  That's what I want to

          7  know, you know, if you can answer, you answer, or if

          8  you can tell what does, we as legislators, what can

          9  we do to make that happen? Because to me, I find

         10  it's crazy for us not to encourage a child to be

         11  with their nature parent or grandparent.  What you

         12  are doing is discouraging it by paying the foster

         13  parent, making it, providing that resources for

         14  them, but we won't do it for the natural

         15  grandparent.

         16                 MS. PYLE:  Okay.  All I can really

         17  say on that is that the foster, the foster payment

         18  system is set up for foster care and I don't think

         19  there's a whole lot we could do about that.  I mean,

         20  I don't know if the Council wants to, you know, do

         21  some, address that Federally or whatever.  But, I

         22  know that there, the Subsidized Guardianship Bill,

         23  which was mentioned, is a bill that kind of, was,

         24  is, kind of put in place to kind of rectify some of

         25  those issues, and maybe you can look at that and

                                                            39

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  look at supporting that and look at what needs to be

          3  done with that bill.  I think Senator Clinton

          4  recently drafted that legislation.  So, you can look

          5  at that bill.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right.

          7  I'm just puzzled at that because to me it's

          8  encouraging for anyone whose been struggling, and

          9  that's the reason why we can find that it's so easy

         10  to find some kind of reason for ACS to take away

         11  children from these parents, because they don't have

         12  the resources.  We are not providing them with

         13  resources, and we're encouraging foster care

         14  assistance by providing, giving them the money to

         15  take care of the child, but we won't give it to the

         16  natural grandparent.  That's my take on this.  Thank

         17  you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Council Member

         19  Perkins.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  I'm sorry,

         21  you mentioned the 14 centers.  That's, you don't

         22  mention that in your testimony.  Would you tell us

         23  what these 14 centers are about?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

         25  Sure.  The 14 centers are through the National
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          2  Family Caregiver Support program.  We've been able

          3  to fund, through an RFP process, 14 community- based

          4  organizations throughout the five boroughs, that

          5  provide the five major caregiver services, and

          6  that's information and assistance, referral,

          7  counseling, individual group counseling, respite

          8  care, as well as supplemental services.

          9                 Supplemental services run the gamut

         10  between if they need, if the caregiver needs an air

         11  conditioner, transportation, any kind of medical

         12  expenses.  Through those 14, the initial 11 were

         13  City- wide programs to just the general caregiver

         14  population.  We had recognized that we needed a more

         15  specialized approach, and we put out another RFP and

         16  we recently received four respondents that were

         17  funded, one for a grandparent raising grandkids,

         18  another one -- actually two for immigrants, and

         19  another for LGBT community.  The Department for the

         20  Aging, of course, overseas these programs.  We meet

         21  monthly.  One of the issues that did come up is that

         22  with these specialized four, that they would like,

         23  that the other 11 should be cross- trained on the

         24  issues that they are seeing in the community, I

         25  mean, caregiver's a broad spectrum.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  So are there

          3  14 or 15? There are four specialized and 11

          4  otherwise? --

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  --

          6  I'm sorry, I keep messing it up.  There are 11

          7  general ones, general caregiving ones and four

          8  targeted --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  -- Okay --

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  --

         11  And one is a caregiver, is a grandparent.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Okay, so

         13  there's, there's 15 in total --

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  --

         15  It's 15, my adding is --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  -- But in a

         17  way five specialized, since one is a grandparent

         18  one, I would consider that sort of a specialized --

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  --

         20  No, four are specialized, one of which is a

         21  grandparent.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Oh, okay --

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  --

         24  I'm sorry --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  -- One of
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          2  the four is a grandparent, and, okay, so, I need to

          3  get clear what does the grandparent one do?  Where

          4  is it located?  Is that the one that you had

          5  mentioned earlier down in the Lower East Side?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

          7  Right, 66 Reid (phonetic) Street.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  66 Green

          9  Street?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

         11  Reid, Reid, in Lower Manhattan.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Okay.  All

         13  right.  So, that's clear.  Now, the other 11 that

         14  are non- specialized, where are they located and

         15  what do they do?  Like, for instance, where are

         16  they, where's, is there one in Harlem, that I

         17  represent? And, where --

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  -- I

         19  can provide you with a list.  I don't have the list

         20  with me today, but, I certainly can provide you with

         21  a list.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Okay.  Now,

         23  what, let me ask you a question very specifically,

         24  what is, how, the group that inspired me and works

         25  in my neighborhood is GEM, Grandparent Empowerment
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          2  Movement.  What do you do for them and what more can

          3  we do for them?  This is --

          4                 MS. PYLE:  -- What do we --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  -- An

          6  example to see what's going on with all these other

          7  groups, so to speak.

          8                 MS. PYLE:  What we do for GEM is we

          9  work closely with GEM.  When I first came to the

         10  Department they were one of the first groups that we

         11  started working with.  We actually provide training

         12  to them, we actually provide services to them. Like,

         13  for instance, we have our holiday toy drive,

         14  emergency cash and goods funds, all Summer camp

         15  programs.  We provide all these services to the

         16  grandparents that's in that group.  We also work

         17  with them on training other grandparents throughout

         18  the City. So, those are, like, that's basically the

         19  services that we provide.  In terms of what you can

         20  do for them, I'm sure that they can basically tell

         21  you what they need.  But, all of the groups, usually

         22  they need funding and other resources.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  I guess what

         24  I'm trying to do is understand how you make GEM

         25  quote unquote a City- wide initiative, and how do
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          2  you enhance what it is that they're doing so that

          3  it's not just an individual members project, that it

          4  becomes a City priority, that it becomes a City

          5  initiative? That we're committed to as a City, not

          6  as me as an individual, per se. Do you understand

          7  what I'm saying?  And, how do they interact with

          8  these so- called 11 centers?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:  As

         10  with all the support groups, we will continue to

         11  give them technical assistance.  We have grown in

         12  our support groups, from when Rolanda first started,

         13  to now 31, and we hope to increase that in the next

         14  couple of years.  So, we'll continue to provide as

         15  much cash support as we can, as well as make them

         16  aware of The Family Center and the other services

         17  that we have available.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

         20  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  No more questions?

         22    Thank you. I want to thank you for your testimony

         23  and also to see how we can partner, how we can send

         24  a message of the program that you offer to

         25  grandparents and make individuals aware that there
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          2  is, there are these programs that they can go to,

          3  such as your agency, such as GEM, and other non-

          4  for- profits in their communities.  So, I really

          5  want to follow- up and get the information that we

          6  requested from the Department, and once again, and

          7  see how we can partner together and how we can work

          8  together to get the word out.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SHAFFER:

         10  Okay, thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  We will now

         14  hear testimony from Maggie Lee of GEM.  Your name is

         15  Maggie Lee? For the record. Could you state your

         16  name for the record please.

         17                 MS. LEE:  Maggie Lee.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  And your name

         19  Ma'am.

         20                 MS. FLORANT:  Gwen Florant.

         21                 MS. JOSEPH:  Jenny Joseph.

         22                 MS. WILLIAMS:  Doris Williams.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  In the future,

         24  anyone that wants to speak, please see the Sergeant

         25  at Arms and fill one of these out please.  It's an
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          2  appearance card.

          3                 MS. LEE:  Good afternoon.  Good

          4  afternoon ladies and gentlemen.  My name is Maggie

          5  Lee and I'm a grandmother of 13 and I'm here to

          6  speak about the tragedies that have occurred in my

          7  life and speak about the tragedies that have

          8  occurred in my life.

          9                 I have always been the one that cared

         10  for my family members when they needed help.  I

         11  raised my two nieces when they're mother passed away

         12  all of a sudden.  I raised my oldest granddaughter

         13  due to the issues of her parents.  At approximately

         14  8:45 on November 9, 1992, tragedy struck my family

         15  hard.  I learned that my oldest daughter, Patricia,

         16  had been murdered by the Super of her building.  At

         17  that point, there were two options for my

         18  grandchildren, go into foster care or be raised by

         19  their father.  Their father was not equipped to

         20  raise the four children on his own.  My

         21  grandchildren's father, along with a lawyer, came to

         22  my home in the afternoon, and he gave me complete

         23  custody of my grandchildren.

         24                 And to, in addition to my role as a

         25  grandmother, I became a mother of Conradine, nine,
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          2  Conrad, five, Patrice, four and Letricia, three.  It

          3  had been ten years since, it had been ten years

          4  since my youngest child had moved out of the house.

          5  So, this adjustment was very hard for me.  It was a

          6  huge impact on my life, emotionally, financial and

          7  physical.

          8                 Emotionally, it was draining, I was

          9  trying to cope with the death of my daughter, while

         10  trying to be a grandmother and a mother for my

         11  grandchildren and deal with them with their mother's

         12  death.  I was frequently taking them to, at that

         13  time it was Harlem Counseling Service, Harlem

         14  Interfaith Counseling Service, that's where I

         15  started out at with my grandchildren, trying to get

         16  counseling and help from them.  There I met Ms.

         17  Dennard, this is not on this, there I met Ms.

         18  Dennard, and she was my personal counselor, and I

         19  told her one day that I come there and she counsel

         20  me, but when I go home, I didn't have no one to

         21  speak to or to talk to.  So she found the group

         22  called GEM, so we would have a support group, where

         23  we would call each other and talk about it.  At that

         24  time, everyone in that group, there was five of us,

         25  and all five of us was raising our grandchildren,
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          2  due to the death or incarceration of our childrens.

          3  So, I found that group very supporting to me.

          4                 Financially, the adjustment was

          5  probably the hardest.  I went from having a full-

          6  time job to supporting my family full- time.  I was

          7  solely dependent on my husband's income to raise my

          8  grandchildren.  I didn't get any money from the

          9  State because I took legal guardianship and not

         10  kinship care.  Six people living on one income was

         11  very difficult.

         12                 Physically, it was hard because of

         13  the age of the children.  Two was in pre- school,

         14  one was in kindergarten and one was in fourth grade.

         15    None of the children was old enough to really help

         16  themselves.  They were totally dependent on me to

         17  care for them.  Four kids can bring a lot of energy.

         18                 Things went from bad to worse.  Two

         19  years after the death of my daughter, tragedy struck

         20  again, my husband had his left leg amputated,

         21  forcing him to use a wheelchair and crutches to get

         22  around.  My husband had been responsible for taking

         23  the kids to school and picking them up and playing

         24  and watching them in the park while they played

         25  every day and doing the shopping for me.  At that
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          2  time, he needed all of my time and my support.

          3                 Tragedy continued to follow me.  My

          4  husband died in 2000 and left me the head of the

          5  household and the rock of my family.  Everyone

          6  depended on me.  I became everyone's keeper. The

          7  next year, my grandchildren's father died.  Once

          8  again, I was left the task of making sure my

          9  grandchildren remained focused and emotionally

         10  stable.  As of now, Conradine is 21, she's in

         11  cosmetology school.  Conrad is 17 and he'll be

         12  graduating next year.  He has a B average.  Patrice

         13  is an honor roll student and Letricia is an honor

         14  roll student.  So, it all is beginning to turn out.

         15  My cycle passes.  I've been there for them.  I did

         16  everything I could for them, and now they're giving

         17  me some of it back, by doing the things that I ask

         18  them to do.

         19                 In respect for -- Lord -- in

         20  retrospect, if not for the faith I have in God and

         21  the support from my family at the Department of

         22  Aging and my Grandparents Empowerment Movement, GEM,

         23  I would have found it impossible to deal with

         24  everything that was on my plate.  Thank you for the

         25  opportunity to share my story.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you, Ms.

          3  Lee, for the opportunity, for having us hear your

          4  story, and I just want to commend you, because I

          5  know it is very difficult to speak about the

          6  tragedies.  But, at the same time, I also want to

          7  commend you and just tell you how truly blessed your

          8  family is for having an individual in their lives as

          9  supportive as you are.  Thank you very much, and you

         10  have our commitment that this Committee will

         11  certainly look into every aspect to make sure that

         12  we work diligently to get the resources that our

         13  grandparents need throughout the City.  So, thank

         14  you very, very much for coming here today.

         15                 MS. LEE:  Thank you for having me.

         16                 MS. WILLIAMS:  Good afternoon, my

         17  name is Doris Williams.  I'm a mother of three,

         18  grandmother of four and great grandmother of four.

         19  On February 26, 1990, my lifestyle completely

         20  changed.  With two granddaughters, ages 16 and seven

         21  and one great- granddaughter, age two, was placed in

         22  my care due to their parents' neglect and substance

         23  abuse.  With these turn of events, I needed help.  I

         24  needed furniture, because my apartment was designed

         25  for my teenage son and me only.  But, thanks to God
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          2  for the friends who came to my rescue in more ways

          3  than one, I'm here to speak of the challenges we, as

          4  grandparents raising grandchildren, face, and one of

          5  them being finances.

          6                 When I asked the caseworker about

          7  furniture, she informed me that there wasn't any

          8  money available.  So, I had to purchase it out of

          9  the first check and repay the money I borrowed from

         10  friends.  But shortly after this, this caseworker

         11  became ill and I got another caseworker, and I

         12  bought a closet, and the caseworker said to me,

         13  well, Ms. Williams, I can get the money for you for

         14  that closet.  So, I said, Oh, you can? And I gave

         15  her a receipt, and after that, she came and I got a

         16  check for it.

         17                 So, that encouraged me to put in for

         18  a fair hearing to get the money back for the other

         19  furniture that I had purchased.  Well, the results

         20  was not favorable.  It was determined that, yes, I

         21  was to have separate beds, dressers and closets for

         22  the children.  However, the agency was not required

         23  to give me the money for it.  This occurred 14 years

         24  ago and today, stories like this still occur, are

         25  being told by other grandparents of difficulties
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          2  that they're having furniture or money babysitting

          3  money, which they discontinued.

          4                 So, therefore, if you have the

          5  children and you need to go someplace, you cannot

          6  get someone else to take care of the child for you,

          7  and you can't get babysitting money.  If you do get

          8  someone, that they approve of, to take care of the

          9  children for you, you have to pay for it out of the

         10  monies that you receive.

         11                 With this being said, I request that

         12  the City agencies, such as what you're here for

         13  today, have the appropriate training, send memos of

         14  changes and update their manuals for all staff

         15  members to avoid these headaches for both personnel

         16  and definitely grandparents.

         17                 Several years later, my daughter,

         18  mother of two, grandchildren living with me, was

         19  diagnosed with AIDS.  I had to tell the eight year-

         20  old about her mother's illness and I just really

         21  didn't know how to.  She kept asking, what's wrong

         22  with my mother?  Of course, the older ones knew, but

         23  she kept asking, what's wrong with my mother?

         24                 So, I sought counseling.  A friend of

         25  mine sent me to Harlem Interfaith Counseling
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          2  Service, and the director, the late Doris Dennard,

          3  counseled myself and the family without the eight

          4  year- old, and then told me that I had to tell her,

          5  in front of everybody, what her illness was, and I

          6  cried, I choked.  But, I got it out.  We went

          7  through explaining to her what HIV meant, that it

          8  was not something that she, as a child, did, or that

          9  her mother was not a bad person, but that this

         10  happened to her and that there were other people out

         11  there that had this disease, so that she would not

         12  feel stigmatized.  This helped me through that and,

         13  you know, continued counseling.

         14                 In 1994, Mrs. Dennard saw the need

         15  for grandparents that are raising grandchildren to

         16  have a support group.  So, she started GEM -- I'm

         17  proud to be in and I call us jewels -- Grandparents

         18  Empowerment Movement. Through this group, we were

         19  connected with the Department for the Aging

         20  Grandparent Resource Center, where we've received

         21  training and you heard them there, we received

         22  training and we developed a book, How to Cope, for

         23  grandparents raising grandchildren, that walked us

         24  through some of the things that we need to do with

         25  the system, in terms of how to write down the name
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          2  of the people we spoke to and all the things that we

          3  need to make it a lot easier for us with the system.

          4    Because they really do put you through a lot of

          5  trouble when you go and try to get assistance with

          6  public assistance or whatever.

          7                 We also went to be trained on how to

          8  talk to other grandparents, through Fordham

          9  University, and the other thing that we did is, we

         10  developed a book on more help for you and your

         11  family, which I was instrumental in and I'll say

         12  more about that a little later.  But, through these

         13  trainings and these conferences and workshops, they

         14  definitely have helped me to do the duties that I

         15  needed to do and to perform the daily rituals to try

         16  to stay within the guidelines of the agency, which

         17  is ACS, which at that time was DAFTUS (phonetic) and

         18  before that was BCW, whatever changes that they're

         19  going through, and provide the love and tenderness

         20  my grandchildren desperately needed at that time.

         21                 In 1993, my daughter died, and I had

         22  to face another challenge.  This was my daughter,

         23  but I had to be strong for her children, her

         24  brothers, my sons, and the entire family. At the

         25  time of her death, my granddaughter, then 19, and my
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          2  youngest son, were attending Farmingdale College,

          3  and I had to tell them about it, and I didn't know

          4  how to.  I told them over the phone, one of the

          5  incidents, to this day, I regret.  She was

          6  destroyed, locked herself in the room, they thought

          7  she was suicidal.  They broke into the room, she was

          8  sobbing uncontrollably for days, until the faculty

          9  sent her home, and even though she had finals.

         10                 If I had to so this again, I would

         11  have grabbed the children at home, took them to the

         12  college to break the news to them, because she

         13  suffered so much after that, and I should have been

         14  there for her.  It wasn't that far, it was only in

         15  Farmingdale.

         16                 One of the things I remember mostly

         17  in one of the workshops was what is it now, and what

         18  it was when I was growing up, a traditional saying,

         19  like, you don't do this in my house. Anybody

         20  remember that, your family might have said that, you

         21  don't do this in my house.  Well, we were taught in

         22  that we would say to the children, not my house, you

         23  say, our house.  Because what message are you

         24  sending to the children if you say, my house?

         25  You're giving them a sense of not belonging again.
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          2                 So, I remember that and my

          3  granddaughter now, even as we speak, the one that's

          4  older, 31 years- old now, I told her that I had a

          5  lot of things I had to learn and I had to change,

          6  which is a lot of things that grandparents find hard

          7  to do.  But, we have to change with the times.  We

          8  laugh about it now and I appreciate that and she

          9  does too.  I haven't said it since.  I accepted that

         10  change.  My efforts to be the best that I can be to

         11  them is what she understands.

         12                 By the way, this same granddaughter,

         13  at the age of 16, when she came to me, didn't want

         14  to be with me.  She just did not want to be with me.

         15    She told me the other night, I had set curfews for

         16  her and all this sort of stuff.  The judge gave her

         17  her own attorney.  Well, it didn't happen.  She had

         18  to come back home, and when she came home, I said,

         19  what happened?  She said, he says I have to stay

         20  with you.  So, she stayed with me.

         21                 Three years ago, I moved to a senior

         22  citizen building, and that's three blocks away from

         23  my apartment, where that same granddaughter, now 31,

         24  she is with my younger son, 34. We often laugh

         25  because I had to move to get away from them.
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          2                 I had one great- granddaughter who

          3  came to me at the age of two years- old, who

          4  wouldn't eat or speak.  But, this didn't stop me

          5  from having her evaluated and seeking the proper

          6  intervention program to address this problem.  I

          7  placed her at YAI and now, 11 years- old, she is

          8  eating and is the most proper and adorable young

          9  lady anyone could have.  Now, all my grandchildren

         10  have either aged out of foster care, one's a

         11  Bachelor of Science major at pre- law State

         12  University of New York College at Brockport,

         13  Brockport, New York, graduating this year, May 15th,

         14  and two great- grandchildren, ages 16 and 11, have

         15  been returned to my granddaughter, their mother, who

         16  has been rehabilitated and they are doing just fine.

         17                 This turned out to be a success story

         18  and one might ask, why are you testifying today?

         19  Have you joined the listeners of that radio station

         20  WIIFM? What's in it for me, in case you've never

         21  heard of it.  I'd simply reply, I'm in it to share

         22  my story of the sacrifices grandparents make at a

         23  time particularly for me, might have been spent

         24  traveling or with a significant other, but chose to

         25  give all my attention and affection to my
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          2  grandchildren and great- grandchildren.  I'm

          3  committed to advocating for improvement in the

          4  system, to gain respect and recognition for legal

          5  services for grandparents and as it is provided for

          6  the child, parent and foster parent.

          7                 I'd also like, if I may, just to go

          8  back to the Department for the Aging.  I've

          9  advocated for the Department for the Aging to have

         10  money to have a social worker on, that would address

         11  only grandparents issues, because we have a problem

         12  with support groups.  But, when a person has a

         13  problem and they may call us, we may get interrupted

         14  by the phone, or the child may be crying and you

         15  can't get your story out to tell it to someone, and

         16  then that person is left with that problem, maybe

         17  even worse, because they have not been able.  But,

         18  if we had a support, a, if the grandparents the

         19  Department for the Aging had a social worker

         20  hotline, like they have for AIDS and cancer and

         21  other things, then that social worker would be able

         22  to address the issues of grandparents, comfort them

         23  and they could get it out in a more professional way

         24  and comfort them and refer them to the right place.

         25  That's not on this paper, but I have been advocating
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          2  for it.

          3                 Finally, I advocate for well deserved

          4  respite for grandparents, who, 24- 7, have to

          5  perform, sometimes keeping multiple appointments if

          6  they have more than one child.  There's no such

          7  thing as saying, I can't come to this clinic,

          8  because then you have an appointment with that

          9  clinic months later, you have to keep those

         10  appointments.  So, you may go to three or four

         11  different appointments in one day.  Sometimes

         12  keeping those multiple appointments, they have no

         13  vacation, no sick days and no personal days.  Thank

         14  you very much.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  You may begin.

         16                 MS. FLORANT:  I can start?  Good

         17  afternoon.  My name is Gwendolyn Florant.  I am the

         18  Director of Mental Health Services for Steinway

         19  Child and Family.  A community- based, social

         20  service agency, that has proudly provided a

         21  continuum of services to children, families and

         22  adults for over 30 years.

         23                 Today, however, I come to you as the

         24  facilitator of Grandparents Empowerment Movement,

         25  for the last eight years, affectionately known as
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          2  GEM.  GEM was established in November 1994, by the

          3  late Doris W. Dennard, Director of Harlem Interfaith

          4  Counseling Service, and Ruth Rudder of A. Phillip

          5  Randolph Senior Citizen Center, to assist

          6  grandparents who were suddenly charged with the

          7  daily care and responsibility of their grandchildren

          8  because of the incapacitation or death of their

          9  adult children due to AIDS, drugs or violence.

         10                 Consequently, these grandparents were

         11  forced to once again assume the role of parents,

         12  when they should have enjoyed the leisure that

         13  retirement affords them.  Finding themselves

         14  encumbered with parenting responsibilities affected

         15  by severe psychosocial stresses, these parenting

         16  grandparents felt the need to connect with other

         17  grandparents who faced the same enormous obstacles.

         18  Therefore, the initial goal of GEM was to attain

         19  educational information, which would help the

         20  parenting grandparents deal more effectively with

         21  their grandchildren.

         22                 With the help of The Grandparent

         23  Resource Center of the New York City Department of

         24  the Aging, grandparents were provided training.

         25  This initial contact served as a catalyst for GEM's
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          2  ensuring involvement in numerous trainings with such

          3  organizations as The Grandparent Resource Center,

          4  Brookdale Department on the Aging, The Whitehouse

          5  Conference, Hunter College 1995 to 1996, Catholic

          6  Charities, Women Providing (sic) Poverty, Fordham

          7  University, and the City, the Citizens Committee for

          8  New York City, Children's Defense and JAPAC.

          9                 We achieved our first goal, but now

         10  needed to address the physical and emotional stress

         11  the grandparents were facing as they attempted to

         12  care for the grandchildren with limited assistance.

         13                 Through these trainings, GEM began to

         14  lobby with our local politicians.  They successfully

         15  secured funding for respite care.  We first received

         16  funding from former Councilwoman C. Virginia Fields,

         17  The Fund of the City of New York, Councilman

         18  Perkins, a grant from New York City Community Trust

         19  Fund, from the Department of the Aging and a grant

         20  from Yoko Ono Lennon. These funds have enabled us to

         21  plan respite weekends initially with and for the

         22  grandparent and their grandchildren, and for the

         23  last eight years, respites for the grandparents

         24  only.

         25                 GEM has limited funding.  However,
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          2  members have utilized grassroot techniques, such as

          3  cake sales and bus trips to raise additional funds

          4  for the organization.  Members of the City Council,

          5  although my grandparents can bake a cake or do a bus

          6  trip to the mall, we need your help.  The majority

          7  of the grandparents that I serve are over 60 years

          8  of age and suffer from a range of medical and

          9  physical conditions, such as high blood pressure,

         10  heart problems, glaucoma, obesity and strokes. As

         11  they get older, there is an increased need for

         12  senior citizen housing that will accommodate their

         13  medical and physical conditions.

         14                 Parenting grandparents need senior

         15  citizen housing that will admit both themselves and

         16  their grandchildren with on site resources for both.

         17    Given the fact that many of the grandparents have

         18  some type of physical ailment, imagine how difficult

         19  it is for them to take public transportation to go

         20  to apply for Medicaid or food stamps for the

         21  grandchild, to make numerous trips to family court,

         22  medical clinics, et cetera.

         23                 I would ask that the City Council

         24  look at developing buildings in the five boroughs,

         25  geared to exclusively providing services to
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          2  parenting grandparents, or the elderly, such as

          3  Medicaid, food stamps, medical, legal aid, heat,

          4  housing and other senior services.  This would allow

          5  the grandparent to spend a day more efficiently if

          6  services were centralized.

          7                 Finally, we are asking for

          8  legislation that would allow grandparents who have

          9  been caring for their grandchild without legal

         10  custody for over five to ten years, to allow those

         11  children to receive their Social Security benefits.

         12  Please imagine what would happen to these children

         13  if every grandparent in New York City showed up on

         14  the steps of Administration for Children Services

         15  and said, I can't do this anymore, you have to take

         16  my grandchild.  We owe it to these unsung heroes and

         17  sheroes to take up the banner and help this fight.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Council Member

         20  Stewart has a question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yes, Ms.

         22  Lee.  I just want to go back to your testimony.  You

         23  have, you know, it's like you brought tears to my

         24  eyes when you were testifying a while ago, and

         25  concerning the problem that you had, did you have
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          2  some social worker discuss what your options were? I

          3  mean --

          4                 MS. LEE:  -- No --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- No social

          6  worker?

          7                 MS. LEE:  When I went to the

          8  Department of Social Service, I was treated like --

          9  my daughter had to come and get me, I had an asthma

         10  attack there.  I sat there all day and when they

         11  finally came down about four o'clock, they told me I

         12  wasn't eligible for anything because I had my kids

         13  legal, through guardianship, and I didn't go through

         14   --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Just

         16  because you had your kids now --

         17                 MS. LEE:  -- I wasn't, I didn't have,

         18  I wasn't eligible --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- You

         20  didn't have legal guardianship at the time?

         21                 MS. LEE:  Yes, I had legal guardian,

         22  because they father brought a lawyer --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Right --

         24                 MS. LEE:  -- To the house, and I got

         25  it that way. I didn't go through the system.  The
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          2  only way I could get any help from them, they said

          3  that I would have to put my grandkids in the system

          4  and I may not get them back.  So, I didn't take no

          5  chances on that for no food stamps and --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- So, in

          7  other words, you, if you were not strong enough, you

          8  would have had to put your kids in foster care --

          9                 MS. LEE:  -- Yea --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Which

         11  they're willing to put money into --

         12                 MS. LEE:  -- Yea, they would pay

         13  somebody else --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- And pay

         15  someone, rather than give you the money --

         16                 MS. LEE:  -- They told me I probably

         17  wouldn't get them back if I let them go into the

         18  system, because that meant I was giving them up.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  You know, it

         20  just brings out the point that I was raising, Ms.

         21  Madam Chair, that I brought out earlier, that the

         22  system is somewhat skewed to help, to force parents

         23  and grandparents to have their kids go into the

         24  foster care system, whereby monies are being

         25  provided willingly.  But, if it has to do with your
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          2  kinship, it's a difficulty there, and that bothers

          3  me.  It bothers me because, you know, if you had to

          4  go, if you did not stand up, if you did not say,

          5  well, let me stay strong, you may not be able to see

          6  your kids now --

          7                 MS. LEE:  -- That's right --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- It's a

          9  good thing that you were strong, and I want to

         10  commend you for being that strong and for testifying

         11  here tonight.  All right, thank you.

         12                 MS. LEE:  Thank you.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  At this point

         14  in time, due to the amount of people that are here.

         15  We would like to limit the speaking time, Sergeant

         16  at Arms, to three minutes.  At this point, we will

         17  hear from Gerard Wallace, from Brookdale Center on

         18  Aging.

         19                 MR. WALLACE:  Thank you.  All right.

         20  My name is Gerard Wallace.  I work for the Brookdale

         21  Center on Aging of Hunter College.  I'm the Director

         22  of the Grandparent Caregiver Law Center.  The

         23  program has been in existence since 1996.  I've been

         24  the Director since 1999.  I work singularly on the

         25  legal issues confronting grandparents and other
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          2  relatives raising grandchildren.  I ask your

          3  pleasure in that I'm able to speak for more than

          4  three minutes.  I've heard extensive commentaries

          5  here for the past two hours, but none of it has

          6  really reached the legal arguments, and I could

          7  comprehensively or succinctly to direct you to what

          8  you need to know.  I would appreciate at least seven

          9  or eight minutes of your time.  Thank you very much.

         10                 Certainly, I'm prepared to talk for

         11  three hours on this.  I do a three hour training for

         12  attorneys on it.  Okay, we're not going to get to do

         13  that, but I hope my notes will help, and I stand

         14  ready, any time, to assist the Council.

         15                 Now, one point we need to make

         16  immediately, grandparents are the best caregivers

         17  for children.  We all know this.  But, there are

         18  indirect policies and indirect and prejudices

         19  against and throughout all the systems.  The fruit

         20  doesn't fall far from the tree is the first thing

         21  that you'll hear privately from bureaucrats, judges

         22  and policy makers.  The notion that, they must have

         23  screwed up for their children, and that's why

         24  they're, they're raising their grandchildren. It's

         25  categorically untrue.  There are studies showing it,
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          2  including the 2000 Kinship Foster -- Kinship Report

          3  to Congress, that was based on the Adoption and Safe

          4  Families Act, the 2000, April 2001 Albany Law School

          5  Conference on Grandparents, the first State wide

          6  Conference in New York, in which the key note

          7  speaker represented evidence from a 50,000 family

          8  survey, proving the benefits of kinship caregivers.

          9  That survey is in the addendums to the papers that I

         10  handed to you today.

         11                 I've interviewed, myself, over 6,000

         12  grandparent caregivers throughout New York and

         13  throughout the nation.  Most of them have been in

         14  New York City because I work out of New York City at

         15  Hunter College.  The problems are the same wherever

         16  you want to go here.

         17                 Basically, the problems stem from a

         18  policy failure.  We have a child welfare system,

         19  yes, ACS of New York City, DSS counties around the

         20  State, that is funded by Federal money and State

         21  money, that gets billions of dollars to take care of

         22  children.  There are seven to ten times more

         23  children being cared for by their relatives, but

         24  they don't have these billions of dollars, they

         25  don't have the financial assistance as we've alluded
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          2  to, they don't have the bureaucracy backing up,

          3  backing them up.  What they do have, is a personal

          4  relationship with these grandchildren that is the

          5  bond that can save them when no one else can help

          6  them.

          7                 Your Council Meeting today comes at a

          8  very timely point.  Tomorrow is the third annual

          9  Grandparents Rally in Albany.  There are a number of

         10  pieces of legislation that the grandparents are

         11  rallying up there to try and get passed, and I'll

         12  allude to them very briefly.

         13                 Also, tomorrow, Senator Clinton will

         14  introduce a Resolution in the Senate, recommending

         15  that the grandparents be acknowledged for the good

         16  work they're doing.  This is a prelude to the

         17  Federal bill that she hopes to introduce on

         18  subsidized guardianship and also on navigator

         19  systems, and the third part of it, we hope, she'll

         20  be following our recommendations, which is to

         21  federalize the law that was passed and that Nancy,

         22  Betsy Gotbaum alluded to earlier, the Grandparent

         23  Caregiver Support or the Grandparent Caregivers

         24  Right Act.  We hope that's going to be introduced

         25  federally.
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          2                 But, I don't have much time to give

          3  you a history on this.  I wanted to go over it, but,

          4  let me make one point in the history.  Often times,

          5  we get a confusion between grandparents' rights and

          6  family rights, parents' rights.  They are not in

          7  conflict.  The ladies that spoke to you here are not

          8  in conflict with their children, the parents, unless

          9  those parents are unable or unwilling to care for

         10  those children.  This isn't grandparent visitation.

         11  There isn't -- there's a long history of grandparent

         12  visitation statutes culminating in Troxel v.

         13  Granville, the 2000 decision by the U.S. Supreme

         14  Court, which is widely misunderstood.  But, which

         15  actually heightens the interest of grandparents in

         16  their grandchildren, and the U.S. Supreme Court has

         17  acknowledged that.

         18                 There's also a decision, Moore v.

         19  City of East Cleveland, a 1977 decision, which says

         20  that grandparent caregivers should have the same

         21  constitutional protections as parents, when they

         22  come up against the State.  There's much to be said

         23  about here, but there isn't the time.  I've given

         24  you a package of information on this, that if your

         25  Counsel wants to go through or talk to me, I can
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          2  highlight out what's important on the legal

          3  background.

          4                 In my notes that I've given you also,

          5  I've given you a chart.  Let me give it to you real

          6  fast, I'm really pressed here, so we'll try and do

          7  it.  There's a chart in the very back of these

          8  notes.  If you'll go to the final page.  This chart

          9  is called Enabling Grandparent Caregivers.  We are

         10  talking here about helping these folks to care for

         11  kids, in huge numbers, and there are many, many

         12  ideas out there for programmatic assistance, for

         13  financial assistance.  But, I offer to you, that

         14  unless we go A to Z to enable them to be caregivers,

         15  if we leave out one leg of the table, they cannot do

         16  the job.  This chart is an attempt to let you look

         17  at, in categories, where New York stands on this

         18  issue.

         19                 If you see, there are 25 boxes on the

         20  chart.  In 19 of the 25 boxes, if I had the time, I

         21  could show you that New York has not enough law to

         22  assist these caregivers.  Stories will be told, you

         23  need to put this into a legal analysis and see how

         24  we can change it.  This is a very, very fast way to

         25  look at it and to look at the chart.  Not enough
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          2  time to go into it.  Again, I'll be happy to talk

          3  more later on it.

          4                 But, let me point out a few of the

          5  highlights that the chart alludes to.  One of them

          6  is, if you've never been in court, you are an

          7  informal caregiver, according to the legal system.

          8  You don't have any court orders.  You have certain

          9  risk and problems.  The gentleman, the other City

         10  Council Member alluded to school enrollment and

         11  medical decision making.  There are real issues here

         12  about how the law defines you and what it does for

         13  you.

         14                 Currently, we have a Caregiver

         15  Authorization bill, been vetoed twice by the

         16  Governor.  It's up again this year in Albany.  We

         17  still don't have a way for a parent to delegate

         18  someone else to make decisions for a child and keep

         19  them in school, be responsible for their schooling

         20  and make their medical decisions.  It's spotty.

         21  Some counties, some providers will take your

         22  informal as consent, other ones will not.  The

         23  issues are all over the place in this State, but the

         24  fact is the matter, there's no law in it.

         25                 If you're an informal caregiver, you
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          2  are constantly, many grandparents are constantly

          3  threatened, if you don't let me get that SSI money,

          4  if you don't let me get that public assistance TANF

          5  grant, I'm going to take those kids away from you.

          6  The grandparents live in fear of these, of what, the

          7  extortion and threats that are put on them by the

          8  parents.

          9                 This, to some extent, was taken care

         10  of by the new law that I mentioned before, that

         11  Betsy Gotbaum alluded to, which has two parts to it.

         12    The first part to it says if a child is residing

         13  with a grandparent for two or more years, we can no

         14  longer just give a kid back to the absent parent.

         15  That's good, but it's not enough.  All right, there

         16  are many issues about security.  There are many

         17  issues, of course, about finances and services, but

         18  I offer to you, that if you say I'm a caregiver, you

         19  need to have the recognition from the law.  You need

         20  to have the authority.  You need to have the

         21  security.  You need to have the financial assistance

         22  and other services.  They're the same elements of

         23  any task in a 19 of 25 categories, you're going to

         24  see how we're failing New York's grandparents.

         25                 A couple of specific issues about the
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          2  child welfare system.  Grandparents fear it.  They

          3  have no special rights.  You know, one of the common

          4  questions to me is, I'm a grandparent, what are my

          5  rights?  Well, the answer is, up until this recent

          6  law, you had no rights.  Once you became a foster

          7  parent, you had no special rights.  There's Federal

          8  law on this. As far as getting a child, up until

          9  recently, it was hit or miss whether they told you

         10  that the child was removed, and it was certainly

         11  often times not told to you that you could become a

         12  foster parent, that you could receive public

         13  assistance, that other things were available to you.

         14                 Currently, the New York State Office

         15  for Children and Family Services is circulating a

         16  memo about the second half of that new law, which

         17  says that we now must attempt to notify all the

         18  grandparents, and any relative contacted must get,

         19  must be informed of their options and must be

         20  informed if they don't do anything, there's a chance

         21  the child will be adopted by strangers.  That memo's

         22  been sitting in the State Department for four

         23  months, hasn't gotten out.

         24                 One of its recommendations is that in

         25  the information given to a relative, we also tell
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          2  them about Child Only grants.  ACS in New York has

          3  already promulgated a two- page form, informing

          4  relatives in accordance with the new law.  But, I

          5  would suggest that ACS should go back and add more

          6  information about public assistance to this, it

          7  isn't contained in their current memorandum, nor in

          8  their current draft, two- page, informative bulletin

          9  or form to relatives.

         10                 One other thing, going through this

         11  so fast, there is TANF money out there, these Child

         12  Only grants.  You're aware of them.  Some of the

         13  grandparents are aware of them.  But, HRA has not

         14  done a good job in performing any outreach and it is

         15  often times misunderstood.  Yes, HRA in New York may

         16  do okay, but around the State I hear issues like

         17  this, you must be a legal custodian or legal

         18  guardian in order to get a Child Only grant, you

         19  must take the work- related program, even though

         20  they're exempt from work- related activities, all

         21  sorts of misinformation.

         22                 One of the pieces of legislation

         23  we're asking for, and HRA could do it in New York

         24  here on their own, how about an instruction form for

         25  making out the application for public assistance?
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          2  I've given you a copy of the State form.  I cannot

          3  figure out how to make it out.  I know one very

          4  intelligent grandmother has told me, when I go to

          5  make this form out, I tell them I'm dyslexic, it's

          6  the only way I can figure out how to do it, because

          7  then they got to make it out for me.  How about a

          8  two- page instruction form? It kills two birds with

          9  one stone. The workers now understand about the

         10  Child Only grants, and the applicants now understand

         11  how to make it out.  Please talk to HRA, look in the

         12  City.  This is not a budget item.  Okay?  It's just

         13  giving them what they already have a right to.

         14                 Other recommendations up in Albany

         15  that are going to be mentioned tomorrow are that,

         16  for the first 12 months a child is in foster care,

         17  there should be a preference for the natural family

         18  getting that kid back.  Hey, often times, a kid goes

         19  in, they didn't hear about it, or they were sick or

         20  for some reason they couldn't intervene, and five

         21  months later, they're fighting the system to get

         22  their own child back.  I had a Brooklyn grandmother

         23  two years tell me, two years ago tell me, it's like

         24  slavery all over again, we're losing our kids.

         25                 Child welfare system can do a better
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          2  job about informing them of their options, making

          3  sure that they can get a child back, up to a certain

          4  point in time.  There's some other statutes on this,

          5  but for the first 12 months, clearly, there should

          6  be a preference.

          7                 Another legislative piece up there is

          8  that building on the first part of that law, which

          9  says that, two years or more residency, the

         10  grandparent can petition, we won't give the child

         11  automatically back.  These grandparents can't afford

         12  counsel.  I'm asked five, ten times a week, would

         13  you represent me?  I'm sorry to say I can't even

         14  handle the phone calls I get per week.  You know,

         15  but we nonetheless represent them.

         16                 But, this bill would say, if you are

         17  a grandparent, qualified under Domestic Relations

         18  Rule 72, the Custody Section, that you have a right,

         19  under Family Court Act 262, to get -- if your

         20  indigent -- to get counsel.  It's a great idea that

         21  would help some grandparents to get counsel.

         22                 I can go on and on about this, okay,

         23  but let me sum up with one point.  Grandparents, we

         24  all know, are special. Some of you are grandparents.

         25    We talk about kin being special, but there is a
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          2  legal basis for heightening the interest of

          3  grandparents in their grandchildren.  We should be

          4  using that. They make up the great majority, up to

          5  80 percent, of the kinship caregivers.  Let's give

          6  them a leg up.  Let's enable them to do their job,

          7  but let's make sure we do it comprehensively.

          8                 Lastly, there is a committee that

          9  started in New York in the cafeteria above Roger

         10  Green's office in Brooklyn a few years.  Maria

         11  Lemons here, is one of the co- founders of that

         12  Committee, Doris Williams is involved, Maggie Lee.

         13  We all were involved in it, the National Committee

         14  of Grandparents for Children's Rights started as an

         15  ad hoc committee to get laws passed to help this

         16  population.  In two years, they got the law we heard

         17  about passed.  They're the ones really, the force

         18  behind tomorrow's rally.  They have morphed into the

         19  National Committee of Grandparents.

         20                 October 15th last year, the first

         21  national rally, they were a co- partner with

         22  Generations United, AARP, the Child Welfare League

         23  and the Children's Defense Fund.  New York

         24  grandparents have come a long way on their own.

         25  They are the constituents, they vote, it's time for

                                                            79

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  everybody to step up from the policy makers and give

          3  them the help that they deserve and make them co-

          4  partners, as the real child welfare system in

          5  America today.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you very

          7  much Mr. Wallace.  You have a question Stewart,

          8  okay, hold on one second Stewart.  I want to thank

          9  you.  You say you can talk all day, we can certainly

         10  listen all day --

         11                 MR. WALLACE:  -- Thank you very much

         12   --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  -- Really, thank

         14  you for your testimony.  Once the Council Member

         15  asks the question, I would like if you would talk to

         16  my legal counsel, Terrance --

         17                 MR. WALLACE:  -- Sure --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  -- Because we have

         19  some questions that we would like -- as a result of

         20  this hearing, I'm gong to be introducing Reso., and

         21  I just would like a little bit of your knowledge

         22  regarding the TANF and the criteria, which I have a

         23  problem with, the five year restriction, the age

         24  requirement.  So, we want to talk about that a

         25  little bit with you, if that's okay.
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          2                 MR. WALLACE:  There is an enormous

          3  amount of misinformation out there, and there is a

          4  Social Service Law 131C, which talks about outreach

          5  for food stamps.  There's no comparable part for

          6  outreach for Child Only grants.  The Urban Institute

          7  estimates that only one in four children,

          8  nationally, whose eligible for a Child Only grant is

          9  getting it.  I'm sure, though I don't have

         10  statistics for New York, that they replicate that

         11  kind of inequity.  If there's only this little pot

         12  of money out there, which is certainly less than

         13  foster care, and that's another problem, but even

         14  that little pot of money which is legally available

         15  is not being offered.  It's just enormous unfairness

         16  happening to the best people I know, really, okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Mr. Wallace,

         18  I want to thank you for your testimony.  But, I want

         19  to implore you to do something for me.  That is to,

         20  if you can come up with a list of recommendations,

         21  some of which you have alluded to a while ago. If

         22  you can come up with that, so, as far as ACS and HRA

         23  is concerned, it's a recommendation that deals with

         24  grandparents and the kids, in that manner, then we

         25  can seek to address some of these problems to, you
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          2  know, because of our limited --

          3                 MR. WALLACE:  -- Time --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Ability

          5  to do so, but at least we can, at least, reach out

          6  to the agencies and make, see if they can work with

          7  us in correcting some of those problems.

          8                 MR. WALLACE:  I don't see any agency

          9  as the enemy. I see agencies as needing to be

         10  educated and to recognize my first point, that their

         11  partner, their best partner in helping children are

         12  grandparents.  And, that they have to look at it as

         13  a first and foremost as a policy decision, not that

         14  they need to save money, but they need to use money,

         15  because in the long run, this is cost- effective.

         16                 I certainly can give you, and I

         17  appreciate the opportunity to make recommendations,

         18  with the grandparents we are marginalized.  May I

         19  say one thing? There are 18 TANF- funded programs in

         20  New York State, that's TANF money, public assistance

         21  money, funded by the New York State Office of

         22  Children and Family Services.  All of them ran out

         23  of money April 19th.  There is nothing out there

         24  going on, other than the AOA's little bit of money,

         25  which is discretionary, and thank God, New York City
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          2  Department for the Aging picked up on it.  There's

          3  no money out there helping these people.  It is

          4  really a disgrace.

          5                 Maggie Lee's stories, Doris Lee's

          6  (sic) stories, every grandparent I know has a story

          7  that can pull, make you weep, because they have

          8  sacrificed and been heroic against great odds.

          9  This, it is really a disgrace.  When the New York

         10  Times yesterday runs articles about the Adoption and

         11  Safe Families Act and how the child welfare system

         12  has failed to meet the mandates of that 1997 law,

         13  they didn't even mention that nobody has done

         14  anything for these people, who make up eight to 11

         15  times more of the caregivers of children at risk

         16  than there are foster parents in America today.

         17  Okay.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you --

         19                 MR. WALLACE:  -- I'm sorry, okay --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- No, I'm,

         21  listen, I am passionate about this because I --

         22                 MR. WALLACE:  -- Thank you --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  --

         24  Understand what's happening and I am glad that you

         25  came here to at least enlighten us and bring to the
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          2  forefront this issue.  I just don't know all of the

          3  ways in which we can really --

          4                 MR. WALLACE:  -- Help you --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Address

          6  some of these issues, and with your expertise, I

          7  think we can put something together and reach out to

          8  ACS, the Commissioner and HRA, at least even

          9  reducing the length of the form, or trying to get,

         10  what we call a one shop system for grandparents.

         11                 There ought to be different and new

         12  ways to address this problem because I feel that our

         13  kids are for sale. I mean, I don't know you look at

         14  it, because when I look at the stats to say that,

         15  the kids that are in foster care system, 98 percent

         16  of these kids are children of color --

         17                 MR. WALLACE:  -- I understand.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- And that

         19  means something is wrong, and I now look and see

         20  where it has been wrong.  Because, if a grandparent

         21  cannot get the same resources and they don't have

         22  the same resources to take care of that child,

         23  eventually, that child ends up in foster care, which

         24  means then, the system is willing to pay for foster

         25  care parent to take care of that child, rather than
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          2  pay the kinship parent.  That, to me, something is

          3  lacking.  We need to seek some sort of help to help

          4  those people to keep the child, and as a matter of

          5  fact, who can give better care?

          6                 MR. WALLACE:  Nobody.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Nobody can

          8  give better care than the one to your own.  I feel

          9  that something, that need to be addressed and that's

         10  where my feeling is.  I don't know, maybe it's in my

         11  voice, you may feel it, you may see it --

         12                 MR. WALLACE:  -- I agree --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- But, I

         14  just feel that something ought to be done, and if

         15  you can come up with ways as far as listing

         16  recommendations that we can work with, I'll be very

         17  much appreciated.

         18                 MR. WALLACE:  Councilman, I'm eager

         19  to help you in any way possible.  Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.  At

         22  this time, we'd like to hear testimony from David

         23  Taylor, from the Presbyterian Senior Center, and

         24  Thomas Hoffman from the Child Welfare Organizing

         25  Project.  At this time, if the Sergeant at Arms
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          2  could please limit testimony to three minutes.

          3  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  I just want to say

          5  that I certainly apologize, while we are trying to

          6  keep it to three minutes, but it's such an important

          7  issue and that we're trying to address it.  So, if

          8  we go a little bit over, I'm just asking for

          9  everyone to be patient, because I do want to hear

         10  what individuals have to say.  So, I really thank

         11  you for your patience.  We're going to try the three

         12  minutes, okay?  I don't know if it's going to work

         13  or not.

         14                 MR. TAYLOR:  I'll do my best.  First,

         15  of all, Madam Chair, I just want to thank you and

         16  the Committee for having this hearing.  This is well

         17  overdue and this is a serious issue that affects

         18  85,000 families in New York City.  So, I think we

         19  need to really start working on this and coming up

         20  with some solutions.  I am the Executive Director of

         21  Presbyterian Senior Services, a City- wide agency

         22  that serves approximately 3,000 older adults in New

         23  York City.  We were founded in 1962.

         24                 In 1995, Presbyterian Senior Services

         25  Board of Directors resolved to begin a kinship
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          2  caregivers support program for relatives raising

          3  children, or more specifically, grandparents raising

          4  grandchildren.  Today, PSS's program serves 30

          5  grandfamilies living in the South Bronx and 62

          6  grandchildren. Sorry.  During the limited time

          7  allotted for my testimony, I want to speak with you

          8  about PSS's holistic approach to kinship care and

          9  service delivery, and to emphasize the need for

         10  increased funding City- wide for this type of

         11  service delivery.

         12                 Throughout the eight years that PSS

         13  has been working with kinship families and older

         14  adult caregivers, we have learned that such programs

         15  as our program are crucial to the well- being of

         16  these families.  The grandparents are often

         17  unprepared for their new role as sole caregiver to a

         18  young child, many live on fixed incomes, and given

         19  the grandparents' older age, many have health

         20  problems.  Left alone to navigate the legal and the

         21  educational and health care systems, they often

         22  experience extreme frustration and even defeat.

         23                 Many governmental agencies are

         24  unprepared to address the special needs of kinship

         25  families.  In our experience, free legal assistance
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          2  is, for the most part, unavailable, school rules for

          3  admission unbending, and case workers unfamiliar

          4  with funding sources.

          5                 Presbyterian Senior Services is in

          6  the process of building New York State's first

          7  Grandparents Raising Grandchildren residence,

          8  providing affordable and safe housing for 50 older

          9  adults raising grandchildren, a $12 million building

         10  due for completion in late 2004.  It's being built

         11  at 163rd Street and Prospect Avenue in the Bronx.

         12                 Even though we have secured the

         13  funding for the building construction, PSS has found

         14  it far more challenging to secure City and State

         15  funding for crucial kinship services and programming

         16  that include child and family counseling, support

         17  groups, legal assistance, tutoring, and respite

         18  care.  Through a patchwork of City and State

         19  agencies, PSS has been able, up to this point, to

         20  secure only $97,000 in funding.  Of that amount,

         21  $50,000, as you just heard, is threatened with

         22  extinction if the State does not come to an

         23  agreement on the budget.

         24                 PSS estimates the total cost for the

         25  PSS grandparent family program and support service

                                                            88

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  for 50 families who will be living in the new

          3  building, and an additional hundred families from

          4  the surrounding Bronx community, to be approximately

          5  $300,000 a year, or only $2,000 per kinship family.

          6  According to the 2000 U.S. Census, there are 85,000

          7  kinship families in New York City, and that number

          8  is growing.

          9                 I recall an earlier day, in the

         10  1980's, when New York City committed very little

         11  funding towards the AIDS crisis. In 1986, a borough

         12  president, at the urging of lesbian and gay

         13  advocates, introduced a budget line for AIDS

         14  education, and was able to secure $1 million in City

         15  funding.  It was a starting point for the City to

         16  re- evaluate what it was doing or not doing for

         17  people with AIDS.  His name was David Dinkins.

         18                 This crisis of second parent, time

         19  parenting has its origin and the HIV AIDS and the

         20  drug epidemic.  Many of the children's parents have

         21  severe emotional, mental health or addiction

         22  problems and are able, are not able to care for

         23  their children.  It is these valiant, older adults,

         24  some of who are 70 and 80 years old, who are

         25  prepared to provide their grandchildren with a sense
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          2  of family support and stability, even if it means

          3  endangering their own health and financial well-

          4  being.  We cannot turn our backs on these older

          5  adults.  If these children are to grow up and become

          6  young adults, full of life opportunities, then the

          7  Mayor and the City Council must re- evaluate their

          8  response in policies toward kinship families.

          9                 This year, we can start off with

         10  every appropriate City agency having a budget line,

         11  a budget line, dedicated to kinship families,

         12  increasing their funding, improving and expanding

         13  their support services.  Kinship services is

         14  woefully underfunded by the City, very much like it

         15  was in the 1980's around the AIDS crisis.

         16                 In conclusion, PSS is recommending

         17  that a task force be formed, with representatives

         18  from the Service Providers Network, government

         19  agencies and experts in the field of

         20  intergenerational families, whose task will be to

         21  re- evaluate the City's interagency service delivery

         22  system for grandparents raising grandchildren, and

         23  provide the City with a holistic plan to kinship

         24  caregiving.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Is this a picture
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          2  of the development?

          3                 MR. TAYLOR:  Yea, that's a rendering,

          4  yes it is, right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  And it's going to

          6  house how many?

          7                 MR. TAYLOR:  50 families, 40 two-

          8  bedroom apartments, and ten three- bedroom

          9  apartments.  And, on the second page, where you see

         10  the grounds and, will be a center, a senior center,

         11  serving older adults for, when kinship, you know,

         12  the kinship families and their surrounding

         13  community, and we hope to have about a hundred of

         14  those families at that time.

         15                 I would like to also, just, if I

         16  could, just comment on the funding stream.  The

         17  information about the caregivers program and the 11

         18  caregiver programs throughout the City and how they

         19  are providing funding.  I think it's really

         20  important that the Council understands that ten

         21  percent of the National Caregivers funding can be

         22  dedicated to kinship families or grandparents

         23  raising grandchildren.  Our agency is one of the

         24  recipients of Caregivers' money in the South Bronx,

         25  and we have taken, and we have a $400,000 grant, and

                                                            91

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  we have taken ten percent of that, that's $40,000,

          3  and hired a case worker to work with our kinship

          4  families.

          5                 What I'm saying is, at this point,

          6  it's discretionary on the part of agencies like

          7  myself who are recipients of the Caregivers' money

          8  to decide whether we want to use the ten percent

          9  formula to providing services to kinship families.

         10  I could be mistaken, but I believe that most have

         11  not considered this option at this particular time,

         12  and if they did that, that would also provide those

         13  kinds of services that we are providing in the South

         14  Bronx, that would be provided throughout the City in

         15  those 11 districts.

         16                 COUNCIL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         17                 MR. HOFFMAN:  My name is Thomas

         18  Hoffman.  I'm a Member of the Board of an

         19  organization called CWOP.  I'd like to get right

         20  into my presentation.  First of all, addressing

         21  Council Member Stewart's concern, we are in a tragic

         22  situation in New York, where families are being

         23  disrupted in the low- income communities, where

         24  families are unable to get any justice in the family

         25  court system, because they enter into that system
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          2  with lawyers who are overburdened and cannot

          3  represent them, with judges who don't have the time

          4  to listen, and they have totally defenseless in

          5  trying to save their families.

          6                 I'm here to talk about grandparents.

          7  Is it possible, in the City of New York, that

          8  children, grandchildren, could be removed from the

          9  gandparents' home, even though the grandparent is

         10  not shown to be unfit or even though there is no

         11  danger in that home, without a hearing, without ever

         12  having a hearing, and even though that grandchild

         13  has lived with the grandparent all their lives?  The

         14  answer is yes, if that child is in the foster

         15  kinship program.

         16                 If the grandparent has required

         17  financial assistance at the time of the termination

         18  of the parental rights, and enters a foster kinship

         19  program, she is relegated to what is called

         20  administrative procedures of the foster kinship

         21  program. Because she is in the foster kinship

         22  program, she must abide by the rules of the agency,

         23  and if she doesn't abide by those rules, those

         24  children are subject to be removed, including not

         25  enough rooms in the home, not segregating furniture,
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          2  and et cetera.

          3                 I, let me give you an example of this

          4  grandmother. She's 61 years old.  She's taking care

          5  of her three grandchildren.  One is 12, since he was

          6  six, two younger girls, five and four.  They've been

          7  in her home all their lives, and continue to be in

          8  their home today.  Except, next week, they will

          9  probably be removed.

         10                 The agency has determined that

         11  because she's 61 years old and her advancing years,

         12  quote, end quote, that she may not be able to take

         13  care of her younger children in the future. She is

         14  relegated to an administrative procedure.  What is

         15  that administrative procedure? Because they say she

         16  is a foster parent.  Your rights are what foster

         17  parents have, which is, first you may appeal to what

         18  is called an independent review.  An independent

         19  review is held by an employee of ACS, who,

         20  supposedly, looks at it independently -- I'm sorry

         21  for shouting, you can get passionate over this --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- It's, you

         23  know, you in the same boat that I am in.  So, I

         24  would, you know, how you say it --

         25                 MR. HOFFMAN:  -- Thank you --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- When you

          3  say it, we accept it.

          4                 MR. HOFFMAN:  This independent review

          5  is held by an ACS employee.  The grandmother does

          6  have a right to bring counsel.  However, counsel

          7  cannot examine any witnesses, counsel cannot cross-

          8  examine anybody, counsel cannot subpoena any

          9  records, counsel may or may not be able to look at

         10  any of the case records, and the independent review

         11  officer determines whether or not the agency's

         12  decision is reasonable.

         13                 What is not implicated, and I should

         14  say this, three days after a decision is made, the

         15  children are removed. You do have a right to appeal

         16  that, to what is called a fair hearing.  That may

         17  not be held for a year, and by that time, during

         18  that whole period of time, these grandchildren are

         19  gone.

         20                 In this particular case, these

         21  grandchildren are going up to Middletown, New York,

         22  75 miles away.  The agency said, well, you'll be

         23  able to see these children, grandmother. There's

         24  been no charge against this grandmother that she's

         25  unfit, none.  There's been no petition filed against
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          2  this grandmother for neglect or abuse.  Children are

          3  going up to Middletown, New York.

          4                 You know what else they've done?

          5  Since January, when they decided on this, they said,

          6  you know grandmother, here's what we want you to do,

          7  we want you to facilitate the transition to

          8  Middletown, New York, by allowing visitation on a

          9  weekly basis.  And, if you don't do that, then we'll

         10  remove them sooner than later.  Yes.  This is true.

         11                 What is not recognized by this

         12  independent review, is what was talked just a moment

         13  ago, the constitutional liberty interest of a family

         14  to stay together.  You cannot remove a child from a

         15  natural parent, unless you show that the parent is

         16  unfit or that the home is in danger, but that is not

         17  true if you're a grandmother, who, unfortunately,

         18  needed some money in the foster kinship program, and

         19  instead of taking those grandchildren because of a

         20  tragedy which happened to a child, instead of taking

         21  those children as a custodian and custody situation,

         22  where the State would then have had to prove that

         23  the grandparent is unfit, she took it under a

         24  kinship program.  And, little did she know, little

         25  did those little grandchildren know, that the
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          2  constitutional rights of a family staying together

          3  was surrendered.

          4                 Now, let me say this, ACS has known

          5  for 20 years that there's been Federal decisions

          6  which have said, even though if your, even if you

          7  are a foster kinship parent, you still have

          8  constitutional rights.  It doesn't make a

          9  difference.  No rules or regulations have been

         10  changed, and that decision came down in early 1980.

         11  So, here we are, and the State courts have said, you

         12  are a foster parent, you cannot stop, we cannot

         13  enjoin the removal of these grandchildren.  So, here

         14  she is, 61 years old. Do not presume, please, that

         15  these agencies or ACS acts competently.  I'm sorry

         16  to say they do not.  They are careless sometimes and

         17  a lot of mistakes are made.  So, I'm really glad

         18  that I had an opportunity to speak before, and vent

         19   --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Thank

         21  you.

         22                 MR. HOFFMAN:  -- And I'm not a

         23  grandparent.  I want to be a grandparent.  I'm

         24  waiting for my children to make me proud.  I am an

         25  attorney.  Thank you very much.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Next up, we

          5  will have --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  --  Sir,

          7  would, could you also try to come up with some

          8  recommendations as to how we can deal with ACS and

          9  HRA?

         10                 MR. HOFFMAN:  I will do that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Because it's

         12  important that we get from, recommendations from all

         13  you experts and see how we can deal with some of

         14  these things.  And, you've seen these cases first-

         15  hand, and you know exactly what's happening. If

         16  there's any way we can improve the lives of these

         17  grandparents and these grandchildren, we would like

         18  to do so.

         19                 MR. HOFFMAN:  Okay, thank you.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.  We

         21  will now hear testimony from Gwendolyn Florant of

         22  Steinway Child and Family Services.  Oh, all right.

         23  We will then hear testimony from Deborah Langosch,

         24  Langosch, in addition to Helen Cooper of The Family

         25  Center and Mabel Evert.  Where is Helen Cooper?
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          2  And, could you each please state your name for the

          3  record.

          4                 MS. LANGOSCH:  Good afternoon.  My

          5  name is Deborah Langosch, and I am a Clinical Social

          6  Worker and Program Director at The Jewish Board of

          7  Family and Children's Services.  Thank you for

          8  asking me here today.

          9                 We are the largest non- sectarian

         10  social service agency in New York State and recently

         11  have launched our second kinship care program.  At

         12  Jewish Board, I also Chair the Brooklyn Grandparent

         13  Coalition and Co- Chair the New York city Kincare

         14  Task Force.  The Coalition has a website for

         15  grandparent caregivers under

         16  brooklyngrandparent.org.  We also run forums that

         17  are, have workshops in English and in Spanish, and

         18  many of our materials are available in Spanish as

         19  well.

         20                 For the past 15 years, I have been

         21  privileged to work directly with over a thousand

         22  relative caregivers by facilitating on- going

         23  support groups, as well as developing programs for

         24  kinship care families.  Caregivers have shared their

         25  joys and commitment to raising their grandchildren,
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          2  nieces and nephews.  They have also described their

          3  frustration, discouragement and depression about the

          4  lack of services and obstacles accessing these

          5  services in order to best raise their grandchildren.

          6                 As policy makers, legislators,

          7  clinicians and direct service providers, we have a

          8  responsibility to respond to the needs of kinship

          9  care families.  You've seen the numbers for New York

         10  State, New York City, many of these grandparents and

         11  all of them, have stepped forward to care for their

         12  grandchildren when parents are unable to do so, and

         13  have kept them out of traditional foster care.  They

         14  are saving our government $13 billion annually.

         15                 However, if you look at the National

         16  Survey of American Families, one- third of relative

         17  caregivers live below the poverty level, and one-

         18  third of those caregivers live 200 percent below the

         19  poverty line.  When caregivers try to access

         20  entitlements and benefits to support their children,

         21  they are often denied access.  This clearly is not

         22  an equitable system.

         23                 For example, and as we've talked

         24  frequently today, when grandparents go to HRA to

         25  apply for the Child Only TANF grants, which is
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          2  $350.00 a month for the first child and only $150.00

          3  for any additional children, the caregivers are told

          4  by the HRA case workers that they are ineligible

          5  because they take the family income into

          6  consideration.  This is erroneous and wrong.  It is

          7  the child's income that needs to be considered.  We

          8  have made repeated attempts to the New York City

          9  Kincare Task Force to invite HRA to the table to

         10  meet with us, to discuss this.  Our attempts have

         11  been met with silence.

         12                 Caregivers are faced with multiple

         13  challenges and a fragmented system that has

         14  different criteria at each entry point, such as food

         15  stamps, Medicaid, special education, child welfare

         16  and family court.  Caregivers often try to access

         17  these services, but give up when it becomes too

         18  overwhelming. Grandparents are often pressured to

         19  adopt their grandchildren as a means of creating

         20  permanency.  Courts appoint attorneys for the

         21  parents, children are appointed law guardians, but

         22  grandparents have no automatic means of receiving

         23  legal representation.  They often describe not being

         24  able to obtain counsel, even through low cost or

         25  free legal service agencies.
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          2                 Until very recently, a caregiving

          3  grandparent did not have the right to enroll a child

          4  in school or seek medical treatment for him or her.

          5  We ask caregivers to assume so much responsibility,

          6  and yet refuse to give them the necessary tools to

          7  care for them adequately.  The grandchildren have

          8  suffered tremendous loss and, often, repeated

          9  traumas, and many have numerous medical,

         10  psychological, and learning problems.  The special

         11  needs of these children require a range of services.

         12  Negotiating through the quagmire of systems and

         13  bureaucracy is a burdensome task at best.  We need

         14  to develop streamlined access to services to relieve

         15  some of this burden for caregivers.

         16                 I'd like to share a statement with

         17  you written by a grandmother in one of the support

         18  groups I facilitated.  She has given me permission

         19  to read this to you, as she could not be here today,

         20  and I hope it will help you to appreciate the issues

         21  more directly as you hear her words.  Kinship Foster

         22  Parents Raising Children with Disabilities, by

         23  Audrey White- Yelverton (phonetic).  Rather you are

         24  raising your own children or have become a kinship

         25  care parent, grandmother, cousin or aunt, it's not

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  easy.  The job is doubly hard if the child has any

          3  type of disability.  I have been raising my grandson

          4  since he was 18 months old.  You see, he is the

          5  product of abuse.  I am his maternal grandmother,

          6  and it was abuse from my own child.

          7                 My grandson is now eight years old,

          8  still in the kinship foster care system due to

          9  several things.  His mother is willing to give up

         10  her rights, but her husband, they have been

         11  separated for about seven years or more, can't seem

         12  to make up his mind.

         13                 Several things have happened since my

         14  grandson was first put into my care.  Two years ago,

         15  he became out of control and had to be put into the

         16  psychiatric ward for nine days.  He, they were the

         17  worst nine days of my life.  You see, even though

         18  I'm his caretaker, one of his so- called parents had

         19  to sign papers before he could be treated.  To give

         20  an update, my grandson has been put into special

         21  education, bussed to school, and has to take

         22  medication.  His parents play no real role in his

         23  life, other than to bring out a lot of anger and

         24  pain.

         25                 For me, it's counseling twice a week
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          2  and I joined a grandparent support group.  It is so

          3  important to have a support team while raising your

          4  grandchildren.  As for the system, sometimes it

          5  works for you and sometimes it's questionable.  The

          6  people that suffer the most are God's precious

          7  children.  They sometimes feel they are to blame

          8  because they don't live with their parents.

          9                 I applaud caregivers all over for

         10  caring enough to almost give up their own

         11  identities.  You see, you aren't grandma or auntie

         12  or cousin anymore.  You are mommy and daddy.  It

         13  breaks my heart to see more and more grandparents,

         14  50 and over, mostly taking on the challenge, and I

         15  believe, meets a real challenge. But, with my

         16  grandson and I, God takes us through, and I want to

         17  say I am praying for anyone raising all over again.

         18                 Last, but not least, do all that you

         19  can to help these children cope with the blow they

         20  have been dealt.  In my case, I not only have a

         21  caring, concerned counseling and grandparent group

         22  counseling and dynamic support team, I've been

         23  blessed with the help and support of not only my

         24  church, but my older daughter, son- in- law, four

         25  other grandchildren, and a recent new addition, I
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          2  got married again.

          3                 Here is a grandmother with remarkable

          4  strength and resiliency and she's found a way to

          5  cope with tremendous adversity in raising her

          6  grandson.  But, consider all of the obstacles and

          7  barriers she faced.  We need to develop more multi

          8  modal comprehensive and integrated services for

          9  kinship care families that address legal,

         10  educational, financial, medical, psychological, and

         11  respite needs, as well as housing.  There are a few

         12  rays of hope, model programs, such as, as you heard

         13  earlier, Presbyterian Senior Services, 50 unit

         14  housing for kinship care families; funding from the

         15  National Family Caregiver Support program, through

         16  New York City Department for the Aging, Grandparent

         17  Resource Center, which was awarded to the Family

         18  Center for a City- wide initiative to provide more

         19  comprehensive services to kinship families; a

         20  potential replication of an Atlanta- based program,

         21  Project Healthy Grandparent, through Fordham

         22  University School of Social Services in

         23  collaboration with NYU Medical Center School of

         24  Nursing; and the development of a Kinship Navigator

         25  service, in collaboration with AARP, New York City
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          2  and New York State agencies.

          3                 In conclusion, these are beginnings,

          4  but clearly are not enough.  Again, it is critical

          5  that we develop integrated programs, create policy

          6  that is supported by legislation and funding, and

          7  provide the resources and wrap- around services to

          8  support kinship care families.  Relative caregivers

          9  have done so much with so little.  It is past time

         10  to provide assistance and help empower kinship

         11  caregivers in order to create permanency, security,

         12  and continuity for their relative children.  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 MS. COOPER:  Hello.  My name's Helen

         15  Cooper, and I'm raising three of my eight

         16  grandchildren.  They're 17, 16 and 14, and I've had

         17  the older two since they were four months old

         18  apiece.  My 14 year- old, I got her when she was

         19  six.  Her mother passed away.  And the Family Center

         20  found me.  The social worker I had was Jerome Brown,

         21  and he refused to let go.  I used the excuse, I

         22  can't keep coming to the City.  Jerome said, well,

         23  I'll come to Far Rockaway.  He came, should I come

         24  back again? No.  He came back anyway.  He got me the

         25  help I needed, the social workers that my children
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          2  needed, the lawyer for the custody of my grandchild,

          3  the support groups, the support groups for the kids.

          4                 The Family Center came and got me and

          5  won't let me go, and this agency is helping me so

          6  much.  It's a lot of entitlements I guess I should

          7  get, but they all come with a string.  If I go to

          8  the City agencies and get these entitlements, I

          9  could lose my grandchildren, because I have to live

         10  under their rule.  I have to do the things that they

         11  think is best for my kids.

         12                 So far, my children are doing

         13  beautifully in school.  One of them is giving me a

         14  pain, but basically, they're doing good.  They need

         15  to give more money.  We're living off of string, so

         16  to speak.  But, I'd rather live off the string than

         17  to take the chance of losing them.  That's what's

         18  happening with a lot of grandparents, and a lot of

         19  them haven't yet made it to their sixties.

         20                 Grandparents are younger and younger

         21  now, and that's another block in their way.  You

         22  can't do this or you can't do that, because you're

         23  not old enough, but yet you're carrying the weight

         24  and you're not getting the help.  Again, I say, The

         25  Family Center just takes hold of you and guides you
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          2  through.  They give you the support, morally,

          3  spiritually, it keeps you going.  It makes the part

          4  about the City not doing their part, or making it

          5  hard for you to get what little you do get, they

          6  kind of make it easier to live with when you have

          7  The Family Center to fall back on.  At least, that's

          8  the way it is for me.  Thank you.

          9                 MS. EVERET:  Good afternoon.  My name

         10  is Mabel Everet, and I've been in it since 1986, in

         11  the beginning of the crack epidemic.  I had a

         12  daughter that was married.  Her and her husband

         13  starting getting high off of crack when it was first

         14  introduced.  She had, her and her husband had had

         15  three children at that time.  Brandy was four,

         16  Cherise (phonetic) was three, and Cashmere was a

         17  year old.  They, the BS, I mean BCW, as it was

         18  called then, placed the three children and gave me

         19  custody of it and gave me a paper telling me to go

         20  to the welfare.  I then went to the welfare and they

         21  assist me, subsidized my income.

         22                 In 1988, my daughter and her husband,

         23  going in and out of a program, had another child, by

         24  the name of Candace.  At that time, Candace was born

         25  drug addicted.  So, therefore, she was a ward of the
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          2  State.  For 18 months of Candace's life, I had a

          3  case worker coming in and out of my house, telling

          4  me what I should do with Candace, but not caring

          5  anything about the other three children that I then

          6  had.

          7                 Tory was in a program at the time and

          8  called me and said, Mommy, I'm going to court that

          9  day, and I took off of work and I went to court.

         10  When I got there, I was told that they were going to

         11  take Tory's custody away and the only way they

         12  wouldn't take Tory's parental right away, if I was

         13  to take custody of Candace.  I felt that I should

         14  not have to adopt Candace, if I did not adopt the

         15  other children.  Why did I have to adopt them?  And

         16  what I was told, if I didn't take custody of

         17  Candace, that they would -- either I would have to

         18  adopt her or take custody of her, or they would take

         19  Candace away.

         20                 At that time, I told them to take

         21  kinship, shove it, I would do for Candace like I was

         22  doing for the other three. They then gave me a slip

         23  of paper and I then put Candace on the budget.  I

         24  had to go there every six months.  I found it's a

         25  problem that I would have to go there, show these
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          2  people my bank books and all my personal business,

          3  and I wasn't getting any money.

          4                 At the time, Brandy -- we went

          5  through this until Brandy was 17 years old.  In her

          6  senior year, she had acquired all her credits that

          7  she needed to graduate from high school. So, she

          8  went on what they call co- op.  Brandy worked from

          9  September until September, when she started college

         10  on the co- op program.  I then got a letter from the

         11  Department of Service, Department of Social Service,

         12  telling me that my case was cut because I had

         13  someone with income.  I wanted to know what income.

         14  So, when I went down there, they told me that Brandy

         15  was working and I should report it.  No one asked me

         16  to report it.  When you fill out those applications,

         17  you tell them that the child is on welfare.  I did

         18  everything I thought I was to do.

         19                 At that time -- and not knowing to me

         20  that Brandy was pregnant.  Brandy had a child.  I

         21  went down and they put the children, they put the

         22  other three children on.  They didn't put Brandy

         23  back on.  They didn't give me anything for the baby

         24  because Brandy had the baby August the tenth, she

         25  started her second year of college on September the
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          2  25th.  They told me that they couldn't put Brandy

          3  back on because she was in a four college student

          4  and they weren't giving any college student and she,

          5  they would give her something if she went to a

          6  community school, a school of cosmetology, but they

          7  didn't give no four year college.  They didn't give

          8  me anything for the baby because they stated that

          9  Brandy needed to take the baby's father court. At

         10  the time, the young man was only 17 years old.

         11                 So, for the last three years, I have

         12  been paying for a babysitter for my great-

         13  grandchild to be able to go to, a babysitter, so

         14  that my granddaughter can go to school.  Thank God

         15  my granddaughter have three years of college and now

         16  working for the Department, the Bureau of the

         17  Federal Government.  My thing is, what I think is

         18  very unfair, that they, grandparents who have to

         19  adopt their children.  I felt that my mother didn't

         20  raise me and I didn't start staying with her until I

         21  was 16, and my prayer is that daughter will one day

         22  get herself together and be able to have her

         23  children in her life.

         24                 I think it's fair for them not to

         25  pressure you.  I think it's fair that the welfare
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          2  society do not put pressure on grandparents and

          3  threaten you that you're so scared, you don't know

          4  what to do.  You're scared to save any money,

          5  because if you have too much money, then you don't

          6  get anything.  I was not allowed any food stamps,

          7  but I teach in a daycare center, where I see that

          8  the foster parents would bring these children in and

          9  they get everything and we can't get anything.  And

         10  that was the biggest thing, the problem that I had.

         11                 I feel, as a grandparent, with the

         12  kinship program that was in effect, at the first

         13  time, when I first got my grandchildren, when they

         14  were younger, that I should have been entitled to

         15  kinship.  I feel it's no, it's not fair for any

         16  grandparent to have to go down to the Department of

         17  Social Service and have to be subjected to the way

         18  that you're treated when you go down there.

         19                 I work every day.  When I go down to

         20  the welfare center and I sit down there, I get

         21  education one- on- one.  For people can go down

         22  there and tell everybody who don't work how they,

         23  you know, you better hurry up and get in here, and

         24  I'm working and praying that I can get to work on

         25  time.  I asking that there be more education for
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          2  grandparents.  I'm asking that there be a network

          3  for grandparents.  I'm asking that grandparents

          4  should be able to have the dignity and the pride and

          5  not be frightened of losing their grandchildren.

          6                 I know that I'm supposed to be here

          7  testifying, in the daycare center, I have a

          8  grandmother, who's 35 years old and who had a 15

          9  year- old daughter who had a set of twins.  A year

         10  later, the same young lady had another baby.  This

         11  mother, we talking to her, said, no you can't give

         12  up these babies, you know, it's going to be all

         13  right, you know, we're going to do this.  She lost

         14  her job.  She went down to the Department of Social

         15  Service.  When she went down to the Department of

         16  Social Service, as long as she was receiving

         17  unemployment, they subsidized it.  Once her

         18  unemployment stopped, they didn't give her anything.

         19    This young lady, who had worked in a bank, with

         20  three grandchildren, is now working in a laundry in

         21  order to get support from the Department of Social

         22  Service.  I think no grandmother should have to go

         23  through that.

         24                 Their thing is that you had a 15

         25  year- old who got pregnant, you should have been
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          2  there, you should have taken care of it.  I have

          3  been trying to give grandparents and trying to talk

          4  to other grandparents, that no grandparent should

          5  have to hurt.  No grandparent should have to be

          6  embarrassed for whatever reason that we're raising

          7  our children.  By the way, these children's mother

          8  do have AIDS.  So, there's a lot of stuff that we go

          9  through.  A lot of stuff that we have to deal with

         10  in order to give our children the moral, the support

         11  and let them know that they are perfectly in tact,

         12  and they're not responsible for the circumstances

         13  that happened in their lives.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I just want

         16  to go over that point.  You said that they will give

         17  assistance to someone that going to cosmetology

         18  school or --

         19                 MS. EVERET:  -- They will give --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- Something

         21  rather than college?

         22                 MS. EVERET:   -- That's right, they

         23  will not give welfare assistance to a young person,

         24  if she would have stayed on my case, that was in a

         25  four year college, but they will give her something
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          2  if she went to a two year college.  They choose

          3  where they want you to go.  My thing is they're just

          4  keeping you in a nutshell and don't want you to

          5  grow.  I didn't have a problem with that because I

          6  told them to shove it.  Like I said, Brandy is now

          7  going on her fourth year, and is able to take care

          8  of her own child.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you.

         10                 MS. LANGOSCH:  Could I just add.

         11  Earlier there was a question about the staffing at

         12  DFTA and I think they were being, at the Grandparent

         13  Resource Center, rather humble.  They do a

         14  remarkable amount with so few staff members.  They

         15  could triple the staff that they currently have and

         16  still not be able to provide services to everyone

         17  who needs it.  So, in terms of recommendations, more

         18  funding for The Grandparent Resource Center would be

         19  right at the top of my list.

         20                 MS. EVERET:  One of the groups that

         21  I'm in, in Queens, is called GEAR, and it came out

         22  of the Grandparent Resource Center.  So they, that's

         23  how we're able to meet in the community and go from

         24  different churches.  We were doing it as a ministry,

         25  and it was through one of their programs.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Okay.  We will

          3  now hear testimony from Carlos Rodriguez of the

          4  Children's Defense Fund, Maria Lemons, of the

          5  Grandchildren Rights, and Woody Henderson and Katie

          6  Gibson from Grandparents Advocacy Program.

          7                 MR. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.  Madam

          8  Chairperson and Members of the Committee.  Thank you

          9  for holding this hearing on the challenges facing

         10  grandparents raising children.  My name is Carlos

         11  Rodriguez and I'm the Senior Field Organizer for the

         12  Children's Defense Fund in New York.

         13                 For over 30 years, the Children's

         14  Defense Fund has worked to ensure that every child

         15  have a successful passage to adulthood with the help

         16  of caring families and communities.  The Children's

         17  Defense Fund has long recognized the crucial role

         18  that grandparent caregivers play in the lives of

         19  children and we are grateful for the opportunity to

         20  discuss how we can work together to ensure that

         21  these special families have the supports that they

         22  need.

         23                 In New York City, nearly one out of

         24  every eighth child is being raised by their

         25  relatives.  In many of these homes, grandparents and
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          2  other relatives have become the primary caregivers

          3  or kinship caregivers for children whose parents

          4  cannot or will not care for them due to tragedies or

          5  to other serious problems.  In addition to my

          6  written testimony, the attached analysis of census

          7  data reveals that children are not just staying with

          8  their grandparents on a short- term basis, and that

          9  often, grandparents are raising more than one child,

         10  and we heard testimony from grandparents who are in

         11  exactly that situation today.

         12                 In New York City, over 58 percent of

         13  grandparents are responsible for them for more than

         14  three years, and State wide, on average, two

         15  children are being raised for every one grandparent

         16  raising grandchildren.  We know that grandparents

         17  provide a vital safety net for children, giving

         18  stability and support to children and families in

         19  crisis.

         20                 At the same time, many of these

         21  grandparents often have their own health problems,

         22  and may be struggling on a fixed income.  We know

         23  that many children being cared for by grandparents

         24  are eligible for assistance through publicly funded

         25  programs, such as health insurance, child care, cash
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          2  grants and more.  However, obtaining these resources

          3  is far from easy.  Many grandparents simply do not

          4  know that the help is available, the application

          5  barriers are enormous, and the workers are not

          6  equipped to meet the special circumstances of

          7  grandparent- headed families.  Many others, as we've

          8  heard here today, are afraid that children they are

          9  raising will be taken away from them if they admit

         10  they need help.

         11                 Programs designed to help low- income

         12  families to get assistance they need are important

         13  that they receive the support to kinship care

         14  households.  We need trusted sources, or

         15  grandparents need trusted sources to which they can

         16  turn to for help.  The State- funded Help for

         17  Caretaker Relatives program does just that,

         18  providing grandparents raising grandchildren with

         19  legal information, counseling and other supports.

         20  Yet, these programs have limited resources and their

         21  current funding is threatened.

         22                 For all of these reasons, the

         23  Children's Defense Fund enthusiastically supports

         24  Council Resolution 165, we, acknowledging the

         25  crucial role of grandparents, that grandparents play
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          2  in New York City.  We also hope that we can count on

          3  the Council's support on two timely and important

          4  issues that could greatly impact grandparent

          5  caregivers and their children in New York City.  The

          6  Council's vigilance on these issues is important to

          7  the well- being of over 240,000 children in New York

          8  City raised by grandparents and other relative

          9  caregivers.

         10                 Specifically, we ask for just two

         11  things.  One is for the Council to oppose Governor

         12  Pataki's budget proposal to eliminate the Help for

         13  Caregiver Relative programs.  It's a mere $1.4

         14  million to fund 18 community- based sites throughout

         15  the City.  Nine of them are in New York City.  The

         16  total cost of the program is $10.00 per grandparent

         17  State- wide.  Yet, we've heard today how many of

         18  those programs are vital for grandparents to just

         19  get by and make, and make a household situation

         20  work.

         21                 We also ask for support for Senator

         22  Clinton's Kinship Caregiver Support Act, which

         23  you've heard from here today.  First, there's three

         24  things that the Act does.  First, it establishes a

         25  kinship navigator program, second it establishes a
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          2  kinship guardianship assistance program, and third,

          3  it creates a refundable grandchild care tax credit,

          4  and there are details in my written testimony.  I'd

          5  be more than happy to go into more details on that

          6  Act.

          7                 Senator Clinton is currently seeking

          8  broad, bipartisan support for the bill, which we

          9  support and hope will be introduced soon.  We

         10  encourage you to support these efforts as well.

         11  Although there's no companion bill on the House

         12  side, the KinGAP provision is included in a

         13  comprehensive act to leave no child behind.  We

         14  thank you for your time today and your commitment to

         15  this important issue.  I look forward to continuing

         16  to work with the Council to ensure that grandparents

         17  and other relative caregivers will be supported in

         18  their efforts to leave no child behind.  Thank you.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         20  You may proceed.

         21                 MS. LEMONS:  Good afternoon.  My name

         22  is Maria Lemons, and I'm with Grandmothers as

         23  Mothers Again and also Grandparents for

         24  Grandchildren Rights.  I'm in a Brooklyn residence,

         25  the 57th 109th District.  As a grandparent raising

                                                            120

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  grandchildren, I have three grandchildrens that I've

          3  raised.  I could go over and talk about all the

          4  things that has been said, but I will say, one of

          5  the things is, like they said, public assistance is

          6  degrading, it's frustrating, it's humiliating, and

          7  it's, the workers there are rude, a lot of them do

          8  not know what job they have, because many have, many

          9  times, we go in and we'll show them, this is TANF,

         10  these are the things that we're entitled to.  I was

         11  told, personally, if I did not give them my

         12  financial statements, that they wouldn't bother to

         13  deal with my case.

         14                 Just recently, my granddaughter is

         15  now 18, and I thought that we were cut off, she was

         16  cut off, because she made 18.  I found out later

         17  that they claim that they sent me a form that I

         18  never filled out.  With that, I -- well, before that

         19  happened, I went down and I asked for a Fair

         20  Hearing.  I went to Borrum Street, Borrum Place

         21  (phonetic) and requested, I asked why I didn't, you

         22  know, get a reply yet.  The woman looked on the

         23  board and she said, well, they did send you some

         24  papers, you have a meeting on the 15th, I mean, yes,

         25  on the 15th, which was the Monday.  I was there on
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          2  Wednesday.  Then she looked and she said, they did

          3  send you a paper.  I said, I never received it.  She

          4  said, well it was sent back.  I guess they didn't

          5  have my apartment number.

          6                 In the meantime, from January of this

          7  year, up until now, and I've had the hearing, I'm

          8  still not getting the assistance for my

          9  granddaughter.  My granddaughter's getting ready to

         10  graduate from high school, so she needs a prom

         11  dress, graduating dues.  She also have a child,

         12  okay? And my great grandson will be two.  But, she

         13  is finishing school.  This is only a problem that,

         14  one problem that's existing now, because to date,

         15  from beginning of April, up until now, they said the

         16  case was, they've heard the case, they founded in

         17  her favor, but I haven't heard a reply yet.

         18                 On top of that, she gets child

         19  support, $25.00 a month from the baby's father.  The

         20  Department of Social Services is not supposed to

         21  take anything over -- they can take anything over

         22  $50.00, the child just gets $25.00, from January til

         23  now, the Department of Social Service is getting

         24  that money.  I'm not just talking about me, because

         25  I'm talking about several other grandparents in my
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          2  organization, or that I know within the City.

          3                 These little things, when we go and

          4  we talk, they don't know anything.  When I asked,

          5  when I was at court and I asked the judge how do I

          6  go about getting the grant from the baby's father.

          7  He told me I have to go to family court to apply to

          8  get the money which the Department of Social

          9  Services shouldn't be taking out anyway.

         10                 I have another grandmother that's in

         11  my group, she's looking for money from seven years

         12  that the father, that's out of State, have been

         13  sending child support and she have not received it.

         14                 I'm here on behalf, really, of

         15  informal grandparents, those of us that do not fall

         16  under the kinship family care for one way, reason or

         17  another, we did not want to go.   Personally did not

         18  want to be one that had to call you and asked you if

         19  I want to go to Jersey with my children and I

         20  couldn't get you, we couldn't go.  Because, if

         21  you're in the kinship foster care system, you cannot

         22  cross the State line. Okay?  So, I didn't apply for

         23  any of that which, at the time, they didn't even

         24  tell me about anything like that.

         25                 But, I am here to say those of us
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          2  that have grandchildren, that's in the informal care

          3  system, should be recognized, should be able to get

          4  something, because those that are in foster care,

          5  they may get four hundred and some odd dollars a

          6  month.  With the children that we have, it depends

          7  on what the Department of Social Service wants to

          8  give you.

          9                 Like I said, there's so many

         10  obstacles.  I mean, there's so many different ways

         11  we become grandparents, there's so many of us that

         12  need different things.  We need a place where you

         13  can go and get serviced in one area, and that's been

         14  said before. Because, many a time, and I know a

         15  grandmother now that have a one-year-old and a

         16  two-year-old, and she was running around to the

         17  Department of Social Service with a year old and a

         18  two year old, was there all day, and was told, well,

         19  we're open until five o'clock.  I found out, and I

         20  told her, I said, well you can go in and get a TANF

         21  grant.

         22                 I also babysat for her at one point,

         23  because one of the kids were not feeling well, and I

         24  went down with her at another point and had to

         25  explain to them what temporary assistance to needy
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          2  families were, and not have her to run around.  It's

          3  overwhelming when you have to go to an agency like

          4  the Department of Social Service, be humiliated,

          5  aggravated and looked down upon.  She was working up

          6  until that time, and I also worked until I had my

          7  grandchildren, and then I was out on disability.  We

          8  have children that need.  They have social needs,

          9  psychological needs, medical needs.  They need to be

         10  part of a system.

         11                 I will say, I've been fortunate at

         12  this particular point, because my oldest grandson

         13  will be graduating from Temple on March 22nd, and he

         14  also danced with the Philadanko (phonetic) Dance

         15  Company.  So, he'll be performing here in New York

         16  from May 18th to May 23rd.  But, he was told while

         17  he was in, I mean, Temple, he was brought down here

         18  by the Department of Social Service, telling him

         19  that he had to work.  I said, how can he do this?

         20  He's out of State going to school? And like they

         21  said, oh, who told him he was supposed to -- the

         22  judge didn't say that, but a social worker said

         23  that.  Okay?  The judge did work along with us, but

         24  they look down on our children if they're here to

         25  make an accomplishment, and my grandson said to the
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          2  judge, I'm going to school so I don't wind up like

          3  my mother did, and I'm glad my grandmother's here to

          4  help me.  And I'm glad I was.

          5                 I am here to help him here and help

          6  my other grandchildren, because I have eight

          7  grandchildren, and that's my oldest.  I'm not caring

          8  for eight, but they all need my love. They all need

          9  my support.  My finances is ruined because I cannot

         10  give them what I should as a grandmother.  I feel

         11  hurt because I shouldn't have to be a mother and

         12  neglect my other grandchildren.

         13       And I, I mean, some of this TANF money, I

         14  believe, this TANF money should be so that

         15  grandparents that's raising their grandchildren

         16  should be able to say, well, okay, I can take and

         17  take them out to a play.  They need to know and be

         18  able to socialize with the best, so they can

         19  understand and not hang out in the street, as we

         20  think the system want us to do or want them to do.

         21                 I'm proud of my grandchildren.  I'm

         22  proud of a lot of the grandmothers that are, is in,

         23  that's in the groups, and we know each other and

         24  we're working together.  But, our children need, and

         25  it's, it's deplorable that a lot of the entitlements
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          2  are pushed away.  And, like Gerry said, we need to

          3  sit down and we need on that task force that we get

          4  grandparents also sitting on that task force.

          5  Because we know from here and here, and a lot of us,

          6  and a lot of grandparents are afraid to speak out,

          7  like it's been said, because they're fearful if

          8  they're in court, or have to go to court, that their

          9  grandchildren will be taken away.  You'd be

         10  surprised.

         11                 And, I have and I'm going to try to

         12  get back and I'm going to speak with Titia James

         13  (phonetic), which is my City Council.  I have a

         14  survey that Doris and I and things like that have

         15  gotten where we ask questions, your age, what you're

         16  doing, whether you were working, why you had to

         17  leave your job, whole lot of that, which I would

         18  like to take and tally up and I'll bring it to, give

         19  it to Titia or send it to any one of you, because we

         20  need help.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         22                 MR. HENDERSON:  First of all, I'd

         23  like to give an honor to God, whose the head of my

         24  life.  I found myself here by a strange route.  I'm

         25  here today representing Grandparents Advocacy
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          2  Project, Inc., which is headed by Kathy Gibson, who

          3  couldn't make it because of other commitments.

          4  There's not much that I can say here -- pardon me?

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Could you

          6  state your name for the record.

          7                 MR. HENDERSON:  Oh, I'm sorry.  My

          8  name is Woody Henderson.  I'm representing the

          9  Grandparents Advocacy Project, Inc.  I'm also the

         10  Chairman of the National Action Network

         11  Administration for Children Services Committee on

         12  family court, as well as the child welfare, and I

         13  also am the Founder and President of an organization

         14  called the Organization for Reunification and

         15  Rehabilitation of Children and Families.

         16                 What we do is we produce film, write

         17  articles, tell the stories that these grandparents

         18  are telling, and other people who are caught up in

         19  this horrendous system, that they call the child

         20  welfare system, when, in fact, it is the child

         21  unfair system.  It is unfair to the grandparents, it

         22  is unfair to the children and the parents.

         23                 I listened to much of what was said

         24  here today and I've heard it a thousand times over

         25  because I've held forums on this.  I just want to
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          2  address a couple of statements that was made.  I

          3  think it was Gerard Wallace that said that someone

          4  had told him that this was a form of slavery.  I

          5  would like to correct him because I think that's a

          6  little inaccurate and a little misrepresentative of

          7  the fact.  Judge Jack Weinstein (phonetic) of the

          8  Second District of the Federal Court said it is

          9  slavery.  It is not a form, it is slavery what is

         10  happening here to taking her child and giving it to

         11  somebody else, destroying our families, devastating

         12  our communities.

         13                 Another issue that was said was that,

         14  and I don't know if it was said by one of the

         15  parents or not, that if they took -- it was one of

         16  the parents -- if they take their child, they're

         17  afraid to go to the system because they fear that if

         18  they put their child, or go to seek help -- I have

         19  two grandparents, Amanda Sherman (phonetic) and

         20  another, who have gone to the system and said,

         21  listen I need help, my child is on drugs and can't

         22  get herself, I need you to help me.  And, they

         23  placed their child into the system and try, and that

         24  was ten years ago, and they haven't gotten that

         25  child back.  So, they say that they're afraid to go
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          2  because they were told if they put the child in the

          3  system, they probably would not get them back.

          4  Again, that's a misrepresentation of the facts.  The

          5  fact is, they will not get them back.  They don't

          6  come back once they take them.

          7                 Another one of the issues that I

          8  wanted to address that was stated, and no disrespect

          9  to any other organizations around that's involved or

         10  the Grandparents Resource Center, and certainly they

         11  are doing some good work, but the monies that's

         12  being spent on this system, the monies need, we need

         13  these services in our communities.  But, these

         14  monies don't just need to be given to organizations

         15  whose providing services for our community.  That

         16  money needed to be given to organizations that are

         17  not only in our community, but of our community.

         18  The organizations that are formed here, Grandparents

         19  Advocacy Group and others that are here that have to

         20  go to other sources to get money.  This money needs

         21  to come to the people who are being impacted by

         22  this.  It's being, as they said, it trickled down,

         23  by the time it gets down, there's nothing left.

         24                 There are Resolutions here that are

         25  introduced, this particular one, 165, I find very
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          2  interesting and very glad that there's a hearing on

          3  it.  There's also Resolutions Number 22 and

          4  Resolutions Number 27, which were introduced by

          5  Councilwoman Foster, which I took part into

          6  composing and gathering the information on back in

          7  1999.

          8                 This is the third time these

          9  Resolutions have been introduced into the City

         10  Council.  They have not yet had a hearing.  They

         11  work hand- in- hand with 165.  But, I noticed on

         12  these Resolutions and I noticed on this one, on the

         13  two that I recommended from the National Action

         14  Network, there are 17 Council Members that have

         15  sponsored and co- sponsored these Resolutions.  I

         16  spoke with Carol Brewer, whose my particular

         17  Councilwoman, about it and she said that she's

         18  working on these issues and she's concerned about

         19  the grandparent issues and the foster care issues.

         20  But, yet I notice on both, number 27 and number 22,

         21  when I call it, I see the name Stewart, I see the

         22  name Baez.  I see 17 different names and not one of

         23  them are white.

         24                 I understand there's a problem.  98

         25  percent of the children are children of color.  We
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          2  have to, you have to, and I know Councilman Stewart,

          3  how committed and how dedicated you are to this

          4  issue, because I feel your passion, and this can be

          5  done. But, it's not going to be easy, and it's going

          6  to take some changes, and you're going to have to

          7  get the money to the communities, to the

          8  organizations, support these organizations.

          9                 I have a grandparent who has her

         10  child in school, as all of these you've heard,

         11  trying to educate these kids, trying to do what they

         12  can, and the child was taken out of the school,

         13  placed into a psychiatric ward up in the Bronx,

         14  placed in a psychiatric ward, the grandparent was

         15  never called to tell them that they had taken their

         16  child and placed them into the service. Had she, the

         17  grandparent, not gone there, when the grandparent

         18  went to the hospital to check on this child, they

         19  roughed her up. They kept the child for ten days.

         20  What they have to go through to get their child, I

         21  mean, I'm saying they, like I'm not a grandparent

         22  too.  I'm a grandparent too.  You know, I don't like

         23  to admit it because, like you, I'm only 21.  But,

         24  the fact is, is that we need to change.  I really

         25  appreciate you holding this hearing.  But, it's not
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          2  enough to hold a hearing.

          3                 What I do, as I said, is I produce

          4  documentary.  I produce films that tell the story.

          5  I produced a documentary called The Struggle for

          6  Justice, which deals with a five year- old girl's

          7  struggle to regain her birth rights, and that's what

          8  happening here.  These children who are being placed

          9  into the system, and the monies that they're

         10  getting, the foster care money that's going to them,

         11  that's not going to this parent. Have a foster care

         12  mother here who gets $8.00 in food stamps a month.

         13  $8.00 is not enough to feed a child in a day.  It's

         14  an insult to the grandparent and the children of

         15  what's happening.

         16                 On this film, it tells about how a

         17  family who got hung up in drugs, like the children

         18  of many of these grandparents have, but they've been

         19  struggling to get them back because they didn't have

         20  grandparents to take their children.  Their children

         21  were placed into foster care.  The Adoption and Safe

         22  Family Act looks good on paper, but it's having a

         23  negative impact on our community.  It's not doing

         24  all it said it's doing.

         25                 On this film, we show how this mother
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          2  and this father have fought for eight years now,

          3  trying to get their children back.  Just recently,

          4  about two months ago, in family court, because, in

          5  part, of this documentary, exposing the unjust ways

          6  the family court and the ACS are operating, the

          7  judge has ruled that this family can now visit, even

          8  though their parental rights were terminated and the

          9  children were placed up for adoption, that this

         10  family can visit their children as often as they

         11  want.  Their child that's in foster care.

         12                 The child supposed to have been

         13  adopted, was never adopted.  It was placed back into

         14  the system instead of being given back to these

         15  parents, who raised the third child that's -- well,

         16  I'm not going to tell you about it, but I'm giving

         17  this to you and I want you to share it with the

         18  Councilwoman and perhaps the whole Committee.  But,

         19  now that there, the judge has ruled, that they've

         20  been exposed, that they can visit this child, and,

         21  whose parental rights have been terminated for eight

         22  years.

         23                 The child who was here at Saint

         24  Agatha's, all of this time, now that this judge

         25  started to rule and all of a sudden ACS moved the
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          2  child from Saint Agatha's up to Binghamton, and the

          3  judge ruled that, well, now the parent, you can see

          4  this child as often as you want.  But they can't pay

          5  $180.00 a week to go visit this child.  But, they've

          6  been going to visit this child, and there's no money

          7  available for them to visit the child.  But, the

          8  judge said well, we're going to allow you to adopt

          9  your own child if this works out.

         10                 First of all, they shouldn't have to,

         11  but, hey, by any means necessary they want to get

         12  our children back into our community.  All I can

         13  say, at this point, is you have to provide money for

         14  organizations and community groups that are

         15  developing in our community, not that we've got to

         16  go to the Grandparents Resource Center or some other

         17  place to get these monies.  The people we have it

         18  here, and she said in our hearts and in our

         19  stomachs, we're not trying to salvage our children.

         20                 We're tired of the slavery and their

         21  judges need to be elected instead of appointed to

         22  the family court.  These judges that have been

         23  appointed, the Mayor appoints the judges, the Mayor

         24  appoints the head of the Administration for

         25  Children's Services, who appoints the General
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          2  Counsel.  Everybody that's in charge of running

          3  this, they're not being impacted by this system

          4  destroying our families.  So, I commend these

          5  grandparents who've come here and speak out, and I

          6  certainly commend you, because I don't know as much

          7  about you Councilwoman Baez, but I do know that you

          8  need to be in touch with Kathy Gibson from the

          9  Grandparents Advocacy Group, which is up in the

         10  Bronx, and in your area, and doing great work.

         11                 On the Saturday before Mother's Day,

         12  she is holding a grandparents mother's day dinner.

         13  I've attended this the last three years.  Over 50

         14  grandparents come in there.  You need to see what's

         15  happening here.  She also told me to invite any of

         16  the other grandparents who are here to come out to

         17  this. Kathy is doing wonderful work, as are other

         18  mothers, but she does not have access.

         19                 My group, I'm producing these films

         20  and telling these stories to try to expose, because

         21  most people in the public believe that if the

         22  Administration for Children's Services are taking

         23  your children, there must be a reason.  They can't

         24  conceive that any branch of the government would

         25  negatively impact children and families unless there
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          2  was a reason, and there's not a reason.

          3                 So, I'm trying to also find a way to

          4  reach out to getting some of these, as they say,

          5  congressionary (phonetic), funds to produce these

          6  stories, to tell these stories, because once people

          7  can see your pain, they'll demand, perhaps, that the

          8  legislators, other than yourselves who are

          9  interested, do something about this.  So, I'm not

         10  going to go on.  It's a very passionate issue to me.

         11    The documentary's here --

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  -- Could you

         13  state the time and date of the event again please.

         14                 MR. HENDERSON:  Pardon me?

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  The

         16  invitation.

         17                 MR. HENDERSON:  The, it's on next

         18  Saturday, May 8th, and the telephone number is (718)

         19  863- 4776, and it'll be held at John J. College of

         20  Criminal Justice, and that's Kathy Gibson's number,

         21  the Grandparents Advocacy Project, Inc..  It would

         22  help if we could get some of the Council Members to

         23  come out, even if you can't stay, just to see some

         24  of these people. You need to touch the grassroots of

         25  people, of people that are suffering.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 MS. LEMONS:  And there's something

          5  else I'd like to add.  Maybe, when grandparents go

          6  to court, instead of a judge making a decision,

          7  maybe it should be a jury trial because more people

          8  would understand what's going on.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.  Is

         10  there anybody else that would like to testify?  No

         11  one else?  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Before we close

         13  our meeting, I would just like to thank everyone for

         14  staying so long.  To the grandparents, you guys do

         15  an excellent job and thank you very, very much for

         16  coming here today and testifying.  I certainly look

         17  forward, the Committee certainly looks forward to

         18  working with you.  If there are any recommendations,

         19  as my colleague said, please let us know.  Inform

         20  your Council Member, send me copies of whatever it

         21  is that you think I should know, how I can be

         22  helpful.

         23                 Once again, thank you.  We have some

         24  hearings taking place in May.  If you can come back

         25  and testify before the Committee once again,
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          2  regarding resources, it would be very helpful.  So,

          3  once again, thank you very much and thank you for

          4  staying so long, and I look forward to working with

          5  you.  Thank you.  Okay, Council Member Stewart.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Madam Chair,

          7  I want to thank you for your leadership on this

          8  issue.  I'm glad that you bring this, that you have

          9  this hearing, and I hope to work with you closer to

         10  make sure that some address be done to this issue,

         11  because this is something that is passionate, I'm

         12  passionate about.  I feel that something ought to be

         13  done about the system. I know with your leadership

         14  we can make changes.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  And, just to

         16  answer the Council Member, absolutely Council

         17  Member, and I certainly look forward to working with

         18  you, and out of this hearing, as a result, we're

         19  going to be introducing some Resolutions that will,

         20  hopefully, be helpful.  I certainly look forward to

         21  whatever recommendations and whatever assistance I

         22  can get from the advocates and my colleagues.  Thank

         23  you very much.  Meeting is adjourned.

         24                 (Meeting adjourned at 4:15 p.m.)

         25

                                                            139

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 27th day of April 2004.

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CHERYL MILLER

                                                            140

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              CHERYL MILLER

         23

         24

         25

